Public Document Pack

Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD

AGENDA FOR THE EXECUTIVE
Members of the Executive are summoned to attend a meeting to be held in Committee
Room 4, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD - Islington Town Hall on 20 June 2019 at
7.00 pm.

Enquiries to
Tel
E-mail
Despatched

:
:
:
:

Philippa Green
020 7527 3184
democracy@islington.gov.uk
12 June 2019

Membership

Portfolio

Councillor Richard Watts
Councillor Janet Burgess MBE
Councillor Kaya Comer-Schwartz

Leader of the Council
Executive Member Health and Social Care
Executive Member for Children, Young People and
Families
Executive Member Finance, Performance and
Community Safety
Executive Member for Community Development
Executive Member for Inclusive Economy and Jobs
Executive Member for Housing and Development
Executive Member for Environment and Transport

Councillor Andy Hull
Councillor Una O'Halloran
Councillor Asima Shaikh
Councillor Diarmaid Ward
Councillor Claudia Webbe

Quorum is 4 Councillors
Please note
It is likely that part of this meeting may need to be held in private as some agenda items
may involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential information within the terms of
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. Members of the press and public may
need to be excluded for that part of the meeting if necessary.
Details of any representations received about why the meeting should be open to the
public - none

Declarations of interest:
If a member of the Executive has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business and
it is not yet on the council’s register, the Councillor must declare both the existence and details of
it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent. Councillors may also choose to
declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is already in the register in the interests of openness
and transparency. In both the above cases, the Councillor must leave the room without
participating in discussion of the item.
If a member of the Executive has a personal interest in an item of business they must declare
both the existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but
may remain in the room, participate in the discussion and/or vote on the item if they have a
dispensation from the Chief Executive.
*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for
profit or gain.
(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect expenses in carrying out
duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union.
(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the Councillors or
their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the council.
(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer.
(f)
Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the
Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest.
(g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of business or
land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued
share capital.
NOTE:

Public questions may be asked on condition that the Chair agrees and that the
questions relate to items on the agenda. No prior notice is required. Questions
will be taken with the relevant item.
Requests for deputations must be made in writing at least two clear days before
the meeting and are subject to the Leader’s agreement. The matter on which the
deputation wants to address the Executive must be on the agenda for that
meeting.

A.

Formal Matters

1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Minutes of Previous Meeting

B.

Decent and genuinely affordable homes for all

4.

Procurement strategy for Housing repairs - roofing, with provision of
scaffolding repairs and maintenance works

Page

1-4

5 - 16

C.

Making Islington the best place for all young people to grow up

Page

5.

Islington Safeguarding Partnership arrangements

17 - 56

6.

Permanent and Fixed-Period Exclusion from School - Recommendations
from Children's Services Scrutiny Committee

57 - 98

D.

Other Matters

E.

Urgent non-exempt matters
Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the
Chair and recorded in the minutes.

F.

Exclusion of the press and public
To consider whether to exclude the press and public during discussion of the
remaining items on the agenda, in view of their confidential nature, in
accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

G.

Urgent exempt Matters
Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the
Chair and recorded in the minutes.

The next meeting of the Executive will be on 11 July 2019

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
London Borough of Islington
Executive - 21 May 2019
Minutes of the meeting of the Executive held at Committee Room 1, Town Hall,
Upper Street, N1 2UD - Islington Town Hall on 21 May 2019 at 12.00 pm.
Present:

Councillors:

Watts, Burgess, Comer-Schwartz, Hull,
O'Halloran, Ward and Webbe

Councillor Richard Watts in the Chair

614

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Shaikh.

615

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None.

616

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
RESOLVED:
That the Minutes of the meeting on 25 April 2019 be confirmed as a correct
record of the meeting and the Chair be authorised to sign them.

617

APPOINTMENTS TO BE MADE BY THE EXECUTIVE
RESOLVED:
2 (a) That Councillor Richard Watts (Chair), Councillor Una O’Halloran,
Councillor Kaya Comer-Schwartz and Councillor Diarmaid Ward be
appointed as members of the Voluntary and Community Sector
Committee and Councillors Burgess, Hull, Shaikh and Councillor Webbe
be appointed as substitutes, for the municipal year 2019/2020, or until
successors are appointed, be agreed.
2 (b) That Councillor Anjna Khurana, Councillor Michelline Safi Ngongo and
Councillor Gary Poole be appointed as observers of the Voluntary and
Community Sector Committee, for the municipal year 2019/2020, or
until successors are appointed, be agreed.
2 (c) That Councillor Una O’Halloran be appointed to the Associated Joint
1

Page 1

Executive - 21 May 2019

Committee – London Councils’ Grants Committee and Councillors
Burgess, Hull, Shaikh and Ward be appointed as deputies, for the
municipal year 2019/2020, or until successors are appointed, be
agreed.
2 (d) That Councillor David Poyser be appointed as the Council’s
representative at shareholder meetings of the London Collective
Investment Vehicle (London LGPS CIV Limited), for the municipal year
2019/2020, or until successors are appointed, be agreed.
Reason for decision – to enable the Council’s representatives to participate in
meetings.
Other options considered – none other than as specified in the report.
Conflicts of interest/dispensations granted – none.
618

PROVISIONAL OUTTURN 2018-19
Councillors Hull and Watts recorded their thanks to the officers involved for all
their hard work.
RESOLVED:
2.1

That the revenue outturn for the General Fund (Table 1 of the report)
of a gross underspend of £5.485m and a net break-even position after
transferring £2.807m to the Insurance Fund provision in 2018-19 and
£2.678m into an Insurance Fund earmarked reserve to be applied to
the provision in 2019-20 be noted.

2.2

That the breakdown of the forecast General Fund outturn by individual
variance at Appendix 1 of the report and by service area at Appendix 2
of the report, be noted.

2.3

That the 2018-19 revenue outturn carry forwards and transfers to
reserves (where there is a specific and agreed purpose for this) detailed
at Appendix 3 be agreed.

2.4

That the transfer of £2.807m to the Insurance Fund provision in 201819 and £2.678m into an Insurance Fund earmarked reserve to be
applied to the provision in 2019-20, following the outcome of the
Insurance Fund year-end review by External Fund Advisors (Paragraphs
3.2-3.3 of the report) be agreed. That the allocation be reviewed
regularly to see what funding can be released for other purposes as
soon as possible, be agreed.

2.5

That the HRA forecast is a break-even position (Section 5, Table 1 of
the report) be noted.

2

Page 2

Executive - 21 May 2019

2.6

That the Council delivered £113.1m of capital investment in 2018-19 be
noted, how this was financed also to be noted, and the re-profiling of
capital budgets between 2018-19 and future financial years (Section 6,
Tables 2-3, and Appendix 4 of the report) be agreed.

2.7

That the earmarked reserves transfers that have been agreed under
delegated authority during the closing of accounts period and the latest
summary of available reserves and balances be noted. That authority
be delegated to the Section 151 Officer/Deputy Section 151 Officer to
agree any further budget virements, movements to/from earmarked
reserves and changes to capital financing related to finalising the 201819 Statement of Accounts (Section 7, Table 4 of the report) be agreed.

Reason for decision – to allow councillors to monitor the budget.
Other options considered – none other than as specified in the report.
Conflicts of interest/dispensations granted – none.
619

PROCUREMENT STRATEGY - OLDER PEOPLE MENTAL HEALTH
RESIDENTIAL SERVICE
RESOLVED:
2.1

That the procurement strategy for Older People Mental Health
Residential Service as outlined in this report be agreed.

2.2

That authority to award the contract be delegated to the Corporate
Director of People Directorate in consultation with the Executive
Member for Health and Social Care be agreed.

Reason for decision – to ensure service continuity.
Other options considered – none other than as specified in the report.
Conflicts of interest/dispensations granted – none.

MEETING CLOSED AT 12.08 pm

CHAIR

3

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

Housing Property Services
33-37 Brewery Road N7 9QH
Report of the Executive Member for Housing and Development
Executive
Delete as
appropriate

Date: 20 June 2019
Exempt

Ward(s): All

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Procurement Strategy for Roofing Repair Works (with
Provision for Scaffolding)
1.

Synopsis

1.1

This report seeks pre-tender approval for the procurement strategy in respect of Roofing
Repair Works (with Provision for Scaffolding) in accordance with Rule 2.7 of the Council’s
Procurement Rules.

1.2

This strategy is for the delivery of roofing repair works, including scaffolding where needed. It
will include day-to-day, emergency and routine repairs and improvements to residential
buildings and estates, including communal areas and facilities.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

To approve the procurement strategy for Roofing Repair Works (with Provision for Scaffolding)
as outlined in this report.

2.2

To delegate authority to award the contracts to the Corporate Director of Housing following
consultation with the Executive Member for Housing and Development.

3.

Background

3.1

The council is intending to procure two contractors to deliver roofing repair works (with
provision for scaffolding), including emergency work, to Islington Council’s residential
properties including communal areas.

Page 5

Page 1 of 8

The council provides a responsive repairs service to approximately 29,000 properties. This
contract provides additional roofing support to the in-house Housing Repairs Service during
busier ‘peak’ times. There is a continuing need for some additional support, as the service is
demand led.
The contract will cover roofing repairs to residential properties and estates, including
communal areas and facilities. The successful contractors will also be expected to supply and
install scaffolding to facilitate the delivery of repairs. The contractors will rotate every six
months between the north and south areas of the borough, in order for leaseholders to have
the opportunity to get equitable pricing The current contract ends on 8 November 2019.
3.2

The estimated aggregate value of this contract is £2,300,000.00 (£575,000.00 per annum),
based on a contract term of 48 months in total (24 + 12 + 12 months). This value is estimated
based on historical spend and roofing repairs data. A review of expenditure has shown an
increased spend in this area of work and this is reflected in the new contract value and budget
spend. In addition, these values factor in the planned return of Private Finance Initiative (PFI)
properties to the Council anticipated to be in 2022. However, the value of other supporting
contracts has decreased and so this can be accommodated within overall budgets. There are
no guaranteed volumes of work, as the work is demand led.
This contract will be funded from the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). Leaseholders will be recharged where applicable.

3.3

Timetable
The council intends to advertise the Open tender in August 2019, with an estimated contract
award in December 2019. The contract start will be 1 February 2019.
As the landlord, the council is obliged to consult with all leaseholders who are affected by the
works (Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 and the Consultation Regulations). This consultation will
mean that the council will be able to recover relevant service charges from leaseholders. A two
stage “Section 20” consultation will take place with leaseholders as part of this procurement.
The first consultation (notice of intention) will take place prior to the contract opportunity being
advertised, the second consultation will take place at award stage (notification of proposal).

3.4

As part of this procurement strategy four options were considered;





Insourcing
Using an external framework
A collaborative procurement process with a neighbouring borough(s)
A procurement process solely for Islington

Insourcing would not be practical, as the in-house repairs team needs a back-up resource to
deal with fluctuations in varying workloads.
Using an external framework would have been the quickest route to market, however S20
consultation would present difficulties with this option, also the external frameworks looked at
did not fully cover our scope of requirements.

Page 6

Page 2 of 8

Collaboration with neighbouring authorities is not an option at present, as neighbouring local
authorities service delivery models are different to Islington’s, such as Homes for Haringey
being an Arm’s Length Management Organisation (ALMO) and Camden has a service delivery
model that significantly differs from Islington’s. The differences in service delivery including
timescales for delivering repairs, how repairs are managed and the IT system used for repair
delivery would be a wide-ranging project to carry out and would require considerable funding
and time.
The preferred option is to procure through a competitive tender process using the Open
Procedure, as this can deliver the best value overall whilst meeting the service needs. This
process means that the pricing, specification and terms and conditions can be specifically
tailored to meet Islington’s needs. The council intends to appoint two contractors to ensure
sufficient cover across the borough.
3.5

Delivering social value to Islington residents will be a contractual obligation on the selected
provider. Their performance will be monitored at regular contract meetings and will be a
consideration in any decision on contract extension. Social value contributions will include work
experience placements, job shadowing and training opportunities for residents. A clear set of
rigorous social value targets will be included in the contract specification. These will be agreed
with the Council’s iWork team and will focus on job opportunities for local residents, especially
those who are disadvantaged in the labour market.
Contractors will also be expected to contribute to in-house repairs training programmes for
residents by donating tools and equipment and/or providing appropriately-skilled staff to assist
with delivery of the training.
London Living Wage will be included as a condition of the contract. However, the current
market pays above London Living Wage for roofing operatives.
Staff from the existing contractors delivering this contract may be subject to TUPE regulations
as part of this procurement.

3.6

The procurement will be in one stage, known as the Open Procedure, as the tender is ‘open’ to
all organisations who express an interest. The Open Procedure includes minimum requirements
that organisations must meet before the rest of their tender is evaluated.
The contract will be awarded to the Most Economically Advantageous Tender (MEAT) and the
award criteria will be set at 60% cost and 40% quality. This will enable Islington to acquire a
contractor that delivers best value overall.
The cost criteria will consist of the bidder’s percentage discount/uplift against the National
Housing Federation (NHF) Schedule of Rates (SORs) and the bidder’s pricing based on a set of
Bespoke SORs.
The quality criteria will consist of:
 Proposed approach to contract delivery including resourcing and ensuring that demand
and contractual timescales are met - 10%
 Proposed approach to staying within budgets and meeting required quality standards in
order to ensure value for money - 10%

Page 7

Page 3 of 8



3.7

Proposed approach to customer services, equality and social value including
communication with residents and the client, as well as ensuring negative environmental
impacts are minimised - 10%
Proposed approach health and safety during works, including training provided to staff
and procedures for ensuring safety of the public and staff - 10%

Islington Council has a duty to provide roofing repairs, keeping roofs watertight and in a good
condition as part of The Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authorities (Right-to-Repair)
Regulations 1994. Failure to do this would result in the council not complying with the
regulations and potentially liable to pay compensation.
Residents are reliant on the council to keep their homes in a good state of repair. Failure by
the council to meet its repair obligations would impact adversely on residents, particularly due
to the health and safety implications of the nature of the works involved, and cause
reputational risks for the council.
Leaseholders pay service charges for relevant repairs and expect that they will be carried out
effectively. These risks can be mitigated by ensuring this contract is procured within the given
timescales to deliver the necessary service.
There is a risk the contractors cannot meet volumes of work. This risk is managed by clear
requirements set out within the specification and rigorous assessment. The appointment of two
contractors means that they will act as a back up to each other.
The key risks associated with this procurement are:
Risk
Procurement is unsuccessful
with no suitable supplier
tendering or being identified
The successful tenderer pulls
out of the contract prior to
start of the contract
Delays to the procurement
process result in limited
mobilisation time for new
supplier/s

Likelihood Impact
Low
High

Priority
Medium

Low

High

Medium

Medium

High

Medium

Mitigation
Interim emergency measures
will be sought and plans to
re-procure put in place
Interim emergency measures
will be sought and plans to
re-procure put in place
A project plan is in place and
the Project Procurement team
need to ensure agreed key
milestones are met.

The opportunities identified are:



3.8

As this contract is designed to support the in-house team, there is an amount of
flexibility depending on capacity, meaning that external spend could be reduced.
Tenants and Leaseholders are more likely to receive a seamless service and value for
money with a procurement timetable planned in advance.

The Employment Relations Act 1999 (Blacklist) Regulations 2010 explicitly prohibit the
compilation, use, sale or supply of blacklists containing details of trade union members and
their activities. Following a motion to full Council on 26 March 2013, all tenderers will be
required to complete an anti-blacklisting declaration. Where an organisation is unable to
declare that they have never blacklisted, they will be required to evidence that they have 'self-

Page 8

Page 4 of 8

cleansed'. The Council will not award a contract to organisations found guilty of blacklisting
unless they have demonstrated 'self-cleansing' and taken adequate measures to remedy past
actions and prevent re-occurrences.
3.9

The following relevant information is required to be specifically approved in accordance with
rule 2.8 of the Procurement Rules:

Relevant information

Information/section in report

1 Nature of the service

This contract is for the delivery of roofing repair
works (including provision for scaffolding) to Islington
Council residential properties and communal areas.
See paragraph 4.1

2 Estimated value

The estimated value per year is £575,000.
The agreement is proposed to run for a period of 24
months, with an optional extension of two periods of
up to 12 months each.
See paragraph 4.2

3 Timetable

ITT – August 2019
Contract Award – December 2019
Contract Start – 1 February 2020
See paragraph 4.3

4 Options appraisal for tender
procedure including consideration of
collaboration opportunities

A competitive tender process has been selected.

5 Consideration of:
Social benefit clauses;
London Living Wage;
Best value;
TUPE, pensions and other staffing
implications

London Living Wage and social value clauses will be
included as part of the contract terms. Best value is
considered as part of the specification, award criteria
and delivery of the service. TUPE will apply.

6 Award criteria

Award criteria cost 60% and quality 40%. The award
criteria price/quality breakdown is more particularly
described within the report.

See paragraph 4.4

See paragraph 4.5

See paragraph 4.6
7 Any business risks associated with
entering the contract

See paragraph 4.7

Page 9

Page 5 of 8

8 Any other relevant financial, legal
or other considerations.

See paragraph 4.8

4.

Implications

4.1

Financial implications:
Roofing Repairs to Housing properties is funded by the Council’s Housing Repairs Budget
(£32.93m in 2019/20) of which £3.52m is allocated to spend on subcontractors.
It is anticipated that the current budget provision will continue to be available for the
foreseeable future. The cost for the contract will therefore be contained within the current and
future years’ budget provisions without causing additional pressure to the Council.

4.2

Legal Implications:
The council is responsible for undertaking the repair, maintenance and improvement of its
housing properties and installations therein (Part 2 of the Housing Act 1985 and section 111 of
the Local Government Act 1972). The Council has power to enter into contracts with suppliers
of roofing repair works under section 1 of the Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997. The
Executive may provide Corporate Directors with responsibility to award contracts with a value
over £2 million using revenue money and over £5 million using capital money (council’s
Procurement Rule 16.2).
The proposed contract is a contract for roofing repair works which is classified as a ‘works’
contract for purposes of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (the Regulations). The total
estimated value of the contract is £2,300,000. The threshold for application of the Regulations
is currently £4,551,413 for works contracts. Contracts below this threshold need to be procured
in compliance with the principles of equal treatment, non-discrimination and transparency
underpinning the Regulations. The council’s Procurement Rules also require works contracts
over the value of £1,000,000 to be subject to a formal competitive tender process. The
proposed procurement strategy, to advertise a call for competition and procure the contract
using a competitive tender process, is in compliance with the principles underpinning the
Regulations and the council’s Procurement Rules.
On completion of the procurement process the contract may be awarded to the highest scoring
tenderer subject to the tender providing value for money for the council.
The contract is for a period in excess of 12 months and therefore will be qualifying long term
agreements under section 20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985. Accordingly, the council will
need to comply with the leaseholder consultation requirements applicable to long term
qualifying agreements set out in the Service Charges (Consultation Requirements) (England)
Regulations 2003 (as amended).

5.3

Environmental Implications
Environmental implications from this contract include material use, waste generation and CO2
emissions and congestion from vehicle use, as well as disturbance to habitat for wildlife.
Where possible, the Contractor should use recycled or sustainably produced materials. They
should ensure that waste materials are kept to a minimum and that waste leaving sites is
reused or recycled where practicable. The Contractor will have a duty of care to ensure that
any waste disposal is done legally and in alignment with the waste hierarchy.

Page 10

Page 6 of 8

The contractor should optimise travel routes to minimise number of journeys taken and be
encouraged to use low or zero emission vehicles where possible. Where there is likely to be
disturbance to habitat, particularly bird nesting space, the Energy Services Team Nature
Conservation Team will be consulted for advice and guidance. Noise pollution from roofing
works must also be considered particularly as affecting tenants and leaseholders in properties
where work is being carried out. Contractors will be required to work within agreed hours and
consider noise arising from works to minimise the impact of noise pollution.
5.4

Resident Impact Assessment:
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those
who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard
to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps
to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public
life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote
understanding.
A Resident Impact Assessment was completed on 6 March 2019 and the summary is included
below. The complete Resident Impact Assessment is appended.
This procurement will not have any negative impact on any persons within the protected
characteristics groups. This contract will have a positive impact on vulnerable groups as it is
designed to ensure that residential properties and estates are kept watertight and in a good
condition. Diversity and equality are considered during the procurement process. Potential
service providers will be asked a scored question during the procurement process about how
they assess and manage roofing repairs for customers with any of the equalities
characteristics. It is a contractual requirement for service providers to work to Islington
Council’s policies and procedures, where equality, diversity and an accessible service for all is
factored into service delivery procedures.

5.

Reasons for the decision:

5.1

Islington Council has a duty to provide roofing repairs, keeping roofs watertight and in a good
condition. The procurement of a new contract is required to ensure provision of roofing repairs
support for the in-house repairs team.

Signed by:
7 June 2019

Executive Member for Housing and
Development

Date

Appendices


Resident Impact Assessment

Background papers: None.

Page 11

Page 7 of 8

Report Author: Liz Czarnecka
Tel:
020 7527 7325
Email:
Elizabeth.Czarnecka@islington.gov.uk
Financial Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

Ricky Chan
020 7527 6940
Chi.Chan@islington.gov.uk

Legal Implications Author: Ramani Chelliah
Tel:
020 7527 3084
Email:
Ramani.Chelliah@islington.gov.uk

Page 12

Page 8 of 8

www.islington.gov.uk

Resident Impact Assessment
Procurement Strategy for Roofing Repair Works (with provision for
scaffolding)
Service Area: Repairs and Maintenance
Service Area: Housing

1. Intended outcomes
This contract is for the delivery of roofing (provision of scaffolding) repairs and maintenance to
Islington Council residential properties, estates and communal areas and facilities. The current
contract is due to expire and a new service provider is required.

2. Resident Profile
The group within Islington which is going to be impacted by this contract are primarily council
tenants, council leaseholders and other residents of and visitors to Islington Council homes
and estates where works are being carried out. Below is the know diversity profile for Islington
council tenants and leaseholders.

Gender

Age

Disability

Tenants

Leaseholders
52.3%

Male

59.7%
%1%
40.3%

Transgender

0.1%

0%

Under 20

0.3%

0.1%

20 - 29

10.5%

4.3%

30 - 39

16.0%

21.2%

40 - 49

22.2%

27.9%

50 - 59

20.5%

23.4%

60-69

13.4%

12.6%

70 and over

17.2%

10.5%

Blind/Visually Impaired

2.1%

1.0%

Deaf/Hearing Impaired

2.1%

1.5%

Learning Difficulty

2.1%

0.3%

Mental Illness

11.4%

1.3%

Mobility Difficulty

5.1%

1.4%

Female

Page 13

47.7%

No Disability

57.7%

81.7%

Other Disability

13.8%

9.2%

Physical Difficulty

5.3%

3.3%

Wheelchair User

0.5%

0.2%

Sexual
orientation

LGBT

3.6%

6.7%

Heterosexual/straight

96.4%

93.3%

Race

BME

42.4%

35.8%

White

57.5%

64.2%

Buddhist

1.1%

1.6%

Christian

58.8%

55.7%

Hindu

0.5%

2.4%

Humanist

0.4%

0.8%

Judaism

0.3%

1.4%

Muslim

16.9%

7.6%

No Religion

19.6%

28.5%

Other Religion

1.8%

1.3%

Rastafarian

0.4%

0.1%

Sikh

0.2%

0.5%

Religion or
belief

3. Equality impacts
It is anticipated that the delivery of this contract for the provision of roofing repair works to
council homes and estates will not discriminate against any individuals with protected
characteristics living in council homes or visiting council homes or estates. The delivery of the
contract will have a positive impact on all residents including those with protected
characteristics as it is designed to ensure that all council residential properties and estates are
kept watertight and in a good condition. The repairs and maintenance of these properties
needs to happen irrespective of residents’ employment/financial status. Islington Council has a
duty to provide roofing repairs and keep roofs watertight and in a good condition as part of The
Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authorities (Right-to-Repair) Regulations 1994.
Leaseholders will be consulted and will be recharged for the cost of these services.
Arrangements proposed within the procurement process for this contract will have a positive
impact on groups with protected characteristics as diversity and equality implications will be
considered during the procurement. Potential service providers will be asked a series of
questions which will be scored during the procurement process. Scoring will take account of
how service providers propose to take due consideration to equality and diversity in the
delivery of this contract in a number of ways.
Service providers’ responses to this question will be expected to clearly demonstrate how they
will communicate effectively with residents impacted by works they are carrying out. Particular
attention will be paid to what arrangements they will put in place to ensure they can
communicate appropriately with residents with protected characteristics who may have

Page 14

2

different communication needs, in particular residents with a disability, those for whom English
is not their first language and elderly residents.
Service providers’ will also be expected to explain clearly how they will take account of any
access difficulties and disruption residents may experience to their homes, block or parts of the
estate affected by roofing and scaffolding works they are carrying out and how these can be
minimised. In particular responses are expected to clearly set out what reasonable
adjustments the service provider can make to works carried out, in particular when scaffolding
is involved, to minimise access problems and disruption to residents with protected
characteristics in particular disabled residents, older and younger residents
Service providers will also be expected to clearly explain how they will deliver their services to
ensure the health and safety for all residents and members of the public is protected and again
any additional health and safety measures they will put in place to ensure individuals with
protected characteristics are protected sufficiently.
The answers given by the successful service provider to the quality questions within the
procurement process will form part of the contract documents for the provision of this service
and performance against these commitments will be monitored by the Housing Repairs
Service. In addition, it is a contractual requirement for service providers to work to Islington
Council’s policies and procedures covering health and safety and equality and diversity.
Social Value is considered and written into the contract terms including offering a minimum
number of apprenticeship opportunities, work experience placements, job shadowing and
training opportunities throughout the delivery of this contract. The council’s Employment
Engagement Team will attend quarterly Core Group meetings with the successful service
provider, where commitments made to deliver Social Value requirements will be monitored and
enforced if necessary with the chosen service provider.
It is not anticipated that the delivery of this contract will have any negative impact on relations
between communities with protected characteristics and the rest of the population in Islington.

4. Safeguarding and Human Rights impacts
a) Safeguarding risks and Human Rights breaches
All of the service providers appointed by repairs and maintenance are required to have
DBS checks for all of their staff working on an Islington contract, including any
subcontractors they use and this must be evidenced. It is also checked on a quarterly basis
to ensure any staff changes within the service provider’s workforce are taken into
consideration. Service providers are not allowed to enter a property unless an adult over
the age of 18 is present. Service providers are given leaflets and information regarding
safeguarding and reporting any safeguarding concerns back to Islington Council during the
contract mobilisation stage. They also have to attend mandatory safeguarding training

Page 15

3

delivered by Islington Council. These are all contractual requirements irrespective of
whether the contractor works internally or externally to residents’ homes.
There is no anticipated risk of Human Rights breaches linked to the delivery of this
contract.

5. Action
As there are no negative impacts identified, no mitigating actions are required. As stated in
section 3, service providers will be scored and monitored closely around their approach to
equality and diversity."

This Resident Impact Assessment has been completed in accordance with the
guidance and using appropriate evidence.
Staff member completing this form:

Head of Service or higher:

Signed: Liz Czarnecka

Signed: Matt West

Date:

Date:

06/03/2019

Page 16

25/04/2019

4

Agenda Item 5
People Directorate
222 Upper Street, N1 1XR
Report of: Executive Member of Children, Young People and Families
Meeting of:

Date:

Ward(s):

Executive

20 June

All

Delete as appropriate:

SUBJECT:
1.

Non-exempt

SAFEFGUARDING PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS

Synopsis

1.1

This report outlines the changes to the Islington Safeguarding Children Board (ISCB) as a
result of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 and Working Together to Safeguard
Children 2018.

1.2

The report proposes a multi-agency safeguarding arrangements (MASAs) for Islington
which implements the new statutory shared responsibilities between the Local Authority
(LA), Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and the Police. This change updates the
existing ISCB arrangements.

2.
2.1

3.
3.1

Recommendations
To agree the new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements between Islington Council,
Islington Clinical Commissioning Group and the Central North Basic Command Unit of the
Metropolitan Police Service.

Background
In May 2016, the Government published its review, led by Alan Wood, about the role and
functions of Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs). This review proposed changes
to local MASAs and placed collective accountability between local authorities, the police
and clinical commissioning groups. It recommended replacing serious case reviews with a
new system of local and national reviews and new arrangements for the overview of all
child deaths within local areas. The key recommendations were included in the Children
and Social Work Act 2017 which abolished the requirement for LSCBs. The Government
subsequently revised the statutory guidance Working Together to Safeguard Children to
include the requirements for MASAs.

Page 17

Page 1 of 4

3.2

Under the new legislation, the three statutory safeguarding partners “must make
arrangements to work together, along with relevant agencies, to safeguard and promote
the welfare of children in their area.” The new arrangements must also engage local
relevant agencies that can work in a collaborative way to provide targeted support to
children and families as appropriate.

3.3

In response to the changes, Islington set up a Safeguarding Transition Project Group
consisting of the corporate leads from the three new statutory lead safeguarding partners
and the current ISCB Chair who collectively led the review of the current ISCB
arrangements. There was consultation and discussion with other safeguarding partners
through the ISCB meetings, an away day and subgroups.

3.4

Appendix A sets out the proposed new arrangements in Islington.
Islington Council, Islington CCG and the Central North Basic Command Unit of the
Metropolitan Police Service form the three statutory safeguarding partners in Islington.
They will work together, and with any relevant agencies, to safeguard and promote the
welfare of children with regard to local need. The statutory safeguarding partners will:




co-ordinate their safeguarding services;
act as a strategic leadership group in supporting and engaging others; and
implement local and national learning including from serious child safeguarding
incidents.

3.5

The existing arrangements are recognised by Ofsted to be working well with all partners
committed to the safeguarding of children in Islington. Organisations that were previously
ISCB members moving into the new arrangements will remain and be named as relevant
agencies.

3.6

The sub-groups will continue to exist as operational committees that deliver the ISCB
Business Plan, supported by the Business Unit. The Early Help sub-group will now fall
under the Board under the new arrangements.

3.7

Islington’s arrangements will retain independent leadership and oversight of the Board by
means of an independently appointed chair.

3.8

The Case Review Sub-group will be retained to assume responsibility for taking forward
Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (LCSPR). It will link in with and contribute to,
when necessary, the new National Safeguarding Practice Review Panel (NSPRP). At the
time of writing, Serious Case Reviews and Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) reviews
are still carried out under legacy safeguarding arrangements. These reviews will be
completed in line with existing procedures, Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015
and transitional guidance. Child death reviews are to be completed by 29 January 2020
and Serious Case Reviews by 29 September 2020.

3.9

The new MASA arrangements in Islington will take effect from 1 September 2019.

4.
4.1

Implications
Financial implications:
The funding arrangements for the MASA will remain unchanged from those for the former
ISCB. The total budget is £226k for 2019/20, including contributions from partners which
remain unchanged in 2019/20.

Page 18

Page 2 of 4

4.2

Legal Implications:

4.2.1.

Local relevant agencies are to act in accordance with the local safeguarding
arrangements, which are to be agreed and published by 29 June 2019.

4.2.2.

The arrangements have to be implemented by 29 September 2019. The implementation
date (1 September 2019) has to be made clear in the published arrangements. Once the
arrangements are published and implemented, the LSCB for the local area will cease to
exist.

4.2.3.

While the LSCB remains in existence in the local area, the council should report to the
LSCB any child safeguarding incidents which it is notifying to the Child Safeguarding
Review Panel. The council should do this within five working days of becoming aware that
the incident has occurred.

4.2.4.

Upon publication of the local safeguarding arrangements, the council is to notify the
Secretary of State for Education by sending the published link to
safeguarding.reform@education.gov.uk. In addition, the council must notify the chair of
the relevant LSCB.

4.2.5.

In sharing information between the safeguarding partners and any relevant agencies, the
council is to ensure that it complies with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the GDPR and
that a clear audit trail is obtained on the handling of all information.

4.3

Environmental Implications
No environmental implications have been identified.

4.4

Resident Impact Assessment:
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of
opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected
characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council
has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take
steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities,
and encourage people to participate in public life. The council must have due regard to
the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding.

5.
5.1

Reason for recommendations
The proposed changes to the ISCB arrangements fulfil the new statutory requirement to
implement multi-agency safeguarding arrangements. The proposal not only retains the
strengths of our safeguarding arrangements recognised through official inspections and
amongst partners in Islington; it also builds on these strengths to ensure clear collective
leadership and accountability for all children, young people and their families.

Appendices


Appendix A: Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

Background papers: n/a

Page 19

Page 3 of 4

Final report clearance:
Signed by:
10 June 2019

Executive Member of Children, Young
People and Families

Date

Report Author: Tania Townsend, Development and Strategy Manager
Tel:

020 7527 3080

Email:

tania.townsend@islington.gov.uk

Financial Implications Author:

Tim Partington

Tel:

020 7527 1851

Email:

tim.partington@islington.gov.uk

Legal Implications Author:

Sony Mistry, Senior Lawyer (Governance

Tel:

0207 527 3833

Email:

sonal.mistry@islington.gov.uk

Page 20

Page 4 of 4

Islington Multi-Agency
Safeguarding Arrangements

Working together to safeguard all Islington’s
children

Page 21

Page 22

Foreword
In Islington we are dedicated to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and
young people. We are committed to ensuring that Islington is a place where everyone has a
fair and equal opportunity to reach their potential.

Since the establishment of the Islington Safeguarding Children Board in 2006 we have built
a robust, cohesive and a well-regarded partnership, with multi-agency representation from
the entire community. In response to the statutory requirement for the Local Authority, the
Metropolitan Police and Islington CCG to lead local safeguarding arrangements we are
building on a solid partnership foundation; and using it as an opportunity to do even better.

As a strong partnership, we are committed to putting Islington’s children and young people
at the forefront of everything we do. The voice of Islington’s children and their families will
not only be heard more clearly but will demonstrably influence how we deliver services as a
partnership.

We publish these arrangements knowing that all our partners will continue to make the
welfare and safety of children a priority and that jointly we will make Islington a safe place
for every child.

Carmel Littleton

Corporate Director –
People and Statutory
Director of Children
Services

Tony Hoolaghan
Chief Operating Officer
Islington CCG

Raj Kohli

Chief Superintendent
CN BCU Commander
Metropolitan Police

LB of Islington

Page 23

Page 24

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

Contents
1. Glossary ...................................................................................................... 6
2. Background................................................................................................. 7
3. Voice of children and parents ..................................................................... 9
4. Islington Safeguarding Children Board ...................................................... 9
5. Organisation Responsibilities ................................................................... 11
6. Leadership ................................................................................................ 12
7. Functions .................................................................................................. 12
8. Governance structure ............................................................................... 15
9. Training .................................................................................................... 19
10. Attendance ............................................................................................... 19
11. Decision making ....................................................................................... 19
12. Escalation Procedure ................................................................................ 20
13. Communication......................................................................................... 20
14. Away Day .................................................................................................. 20
15. Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews - Rapid Reviews ............................. 20
16. Local planning and governance ................................................................ 21
17. Child Death Review System ...................................................................... 22
18. Reporting .................................................................................................. 22
19. The challenge function ............................................................................. 23
20. Resourcing and supporting the arrangements ......................................... 24
21. APPENDIX 1 –Organisational Responsibilities & Section 11..................... 26
22. APPENDIX 2 – Independent Chair – Job Description ................................ 27
23. APPENDIX 3 – Member’s Roles and Responsibilities ................................ 28
24. APPENDIX 4 – Relevant Agencies ............................................................. 29
25. APPENDIX 5 – Terms of Reference ........................................................... 30
26. APPENDIX 6 – Rapid Review Process ....................................................... 34

Page
Page
5 of 25
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

1. Glossary
MASA

Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

SP

Safeguarding Partners

LA

Local Authority

CCG
RA

Clinical Commissioning Group
Relevant Agency

CDOP

Child Death Overview Panel

LCSPR

Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review

NSPRP

National Safeguarding Practice Review Panel

CNL CDRS

Central North London Child Death Review System

CDRs

Child Death Reviews

YJSMB

Youth Justice Service Management Board

MAPPA

Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements

VAWG

Violence Against Women & Girls

MACE

Multi-Agency Child Exploitation

CP & VDG
GDPR

Child Protection & Vulnerable Delivery Group
General Data Protection Regulation

Page
2636
Page 6 of

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

2. Background
The Children and Social Work Act 2017 and Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018
removed the requirement for Local Authorities to establish LSCBs and replaced with new
local multi-agency safeguarding arrangements (MASA). Under the new legislation, the three
statutory safeguarding partners (SPs) – Local Authority (LA), Police and Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) – “must make arrangements to work together, along with
relevant agencies, to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in their area” 1. The new
arrangements must also engage local relevant agencies (RA) that can work in a collaborative
way to provide targeted support to children and families as appropriate.
The statutory safeguarding partners will co-ordinate their safeguarding services; act as a
strategic leadership group in supporting and engaging others; and implement local and
national learning including from serious child safeguarding incidents.
The statutory safeguarding partners must work together and with any relevant agencies, to
safeguard and promote the welfare of children with regard to local need.
At the time of writing, Serious Case Reviews and CDOP reviews are still carried out under
legacy safeguarding arrangements. These reviews will be completed in line with existing
procedures, Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015 and transitional guidance 2. Child
death reviews are to be completed by 29/01/2020 and Serious Case Reviews by the
29/9/2020.
Islington’s Multi-agency safeguarding arrangements will take effect from September 1st
2019.
In accordance with Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, the Islington
Safeguarding Children Board (ISCB) will hand over all relevant data and information to the
new arrangements. A clear audit trail of the transferred documentation will be outlined as to
comply with GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018. All pertinent historical records,
including any that may be relevant to the national Independent Inquiry into Child Sex
Abuse 3, will be retained and stored appropriately. Data will be stored by / with the Business
Unit and follow the requirements as directed from the Information Governance department.
2.1.

Summary of the changes to Islington’s multi-agency safeguarding
arrangements

During 2018/19, a Safeguarding Transition Project Board including the statutory
safeguarding partners worked together to develop the new arrangements. An away-day was
held in February 2019 to consult the existing ISCB partners about the new arrangements to
ensure that all views from involved agencies were heard and could be moulded into the new
local arrangements.
The existing arrangements are working well with all partners committed to the safeguarding
of children in Islington. Organisations that were previously members of the Islington
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, page 74
Working Together: transitional guidance. Statutory guidance for Local Safeguarding Children
Boards, local authorities, safeguarding partners, child death review partners, and the Child
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel. July 2018
3
ICSA Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (icsa.org.uk)
1
2

Page
Page
7 of 27
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

Safeguarding Children Board (the Board) moving into the new arrangements will remain and
be named as relevant agencies.
The sub-groups will continue to exist as operational committees that deliver the Board’s
Business Plan, supported by the Business Unit, including the Missing and Child / Adolescent
Exploitation sub-group previously known as Missing and Child Sexual Exploitation. The Early
Help sub-group will now fall under the Board under the new arrangements.
Islington’s arrangements will retain independent leadership and oversight of the Board by
means of an independently appointed chair.
The Case Review Sub-group will be retained to assume responsibility for taking forward
Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (LCSPR). It will link in with and contribute to,
when necessary, the new National Safeguarding Practice Review Panel (NSPRP).

The new arrangements will continue to
cover the one Local Authority area and
will, where appropriate, maintain links
to neighbouring local authorities with
the potential to work jointly on
priorities and projects where relevant.
The new arrangements will carry over
and continue the current training
program undertaken by Islington
Safeguarding Children Board.
Funding for the new arrangements has
been secured for 2019/20 through the
multi-agency safeguarding partners.
These arrangements currently remain
the same as per the previous ISCB
funding arrangements and will be
reviewed on an annual basis.
Discussions will commence in July
2019 with an agreement to funding
contributions secured by January
2020.

Figure 1. Islington local authority Boundary

Page
2836
Page 8 of

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

3. Voice of children and parents
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 identifies that children are clear what they
want from an effective safeguarding system; that they want to be respected, their views
heard and have stable relationships with professionals built on trust and consistent support
provided for their individual needs.
Children have said that they need:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Vigilance: to have adults notice when things are troubling them
Understanding and action: to understand what is happening; to be heard and
understood; and to have that understanding acted upon
Stability: to be able to develop an on-going stable relationship of trust with
those helping them
Respect: to be treated with the expectation that they are competent rather than
not
Information and engagement: to be informed about and involved in
procedures, decisions, concerns and plans
Explanation: to be informed of the outcome of assessments and decisions and
reasons when their views have not met with a positive response
Support: to be provided with support in their own right as well as a member of
their own family
Advocacy: to be provided with advocacy to assist them in putting forward their
views

All parts of the Islington MASA must ensure that its work is informed by the views and
experiences of children and families. Each group must agree on the appropriate method/s to
achieve this.
Lay members on the Board will assist sub-and steering groups to access the views of
children and parents.

4. Islington Safeguarding Children Board
The amendments in Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 re-emphasise the notion
that the safeguarding of children is the responsibility of the whole community, not just a few
designated individuals; therefore, the creation of a vibrant, inclusive, mature and concerned
community is essential if children are to be safeguarded and their well-being promoted.
4.1.

Role of the Board

Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is defined by government guidance as:
•
•
•
•

protecting children from maltreatment
preventing impairment of children’s health and development
ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe
and effective care
taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes

Page
Page
9 of 29
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

Whilst the Board contributes to the wider goals of improving the wellbeing of children, it has
a particular focus ensuring that children are safeguarded and that their welfare is promoted.
The Board provides and develops leadership regarding the safeguarding of children. To do
this, the Board must:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

influence and hold to account the range of organisations, agencies and individuals
who have the responsibility to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, as
outlined in section 11 of the Children Act 2004.
be independent.
not be subordinate to, or subsumed within other local structures.
co-ordinate safeguarding locally through shared policies, procedures and training.
influence other relevant agencies and organisations in the local authority area which
affect children’s lives.
engage with the voluntary, independent, private, community and faith sectors.
connect with, and impact on, communities, businesses and people who live and work
in the local authority area.
be influenced by the lived experiences of children and families.

While adhering to key principles that:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
4.2.

children, young people and their families have access to early help.
we safeguard the rights of children by focussing on the priority needs in our
community.
the needs of children are paramount when agencies are making decisions about their
lives whilst working in partnership with their families.
the partnership will support working in a trauma-informed way.
all partners will champion continuous learning, to further develop service provision
and delivery that will support children and families.
there is a statutory duty to co-operate on all partners, particularly schools.
that any change is not led by austerity or efficiencies but by measurable
improvements in the safeguarding system that benefit children and families.
Objectives

The objectives of the Board are to
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

co-ordinate local work to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.
monitor and ensure the effectiveness of individual agencies’ and multi-agency
safeguarding work.
collaborate, share and co-own the vision for how to achieve improved outcomes for
vulnerable children.
challenge each other appropriately and hold one another to account effectively.
identify and analyse new safeguarding issues and emerging threats.
promote and embed learning and change practice in a way that local services for
children and families can be become more reflective and effective.
ensure agencies share information effectively to facilitate accurate and timely
decision-making for children and families.

Page
Page 10 30
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

5. Organisation Responsibilities
Organisations should have in place arrangements to reflect the importance of safeguarding
and promoting the welfare of children 4.
The duties include:
•
•

•
•

•
•
•

•

•
•

a clear line of accountability for the commissioning and/or provision of services
a senior board level lead with the required knowledge, skills and expertise or
sufficiently qualified and experienced to take leadership responsibility for the
organisation’s/agency’s safeguarding arrangements
a culture of listening to children and taking account of their wishes and feelings
clear whistleblowing procedures, which reflect the principles in Sir Robert Francis’
Freedom to Speak Up Review and are suitably referenced in staff training and
codes of conduct, and a culture that enables issues about safeguarding and
promoting the welfare of children to be addressed
clear escalation policies for staff to follow when their child safeguarding concerns
are not being addressed
arrangements which set out clearly the processes for sharing information, with
other practitioners and with safeguarding partners
a designated practitioner (or for health commissioning and health provider
organisations/agencies, designated and named practitioners) for child
safeguarding.
safe recruitment practices and ongoing safe working practices for individuals
whom the organisation or agency permit to work regularly with children, including
policies on when to obtain a criminal record check
appropriate supervision and support for staff, including undertaking safeguarding
training
creating a culture of safety, equality and protection within the services they
provide.

In addition:
•

•
•

employers are responsible for ensuring that their staff are competent to carry out
their responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and
creating an environment where staff feel able to raise concerns and fell supported
in their safeguarding role
staff should be given a mandatory induction
all practitioners should have regular reviews of their own practice to ensure they
have knowledge, skills and expertise that improve over time.

The Board will provide a self-audit framework to organisations for them to be able to hold
themselves to account.
A list of Section 11 organisations is outlined in Appendix 1
4

Working Together to safeguard Children 2018: Chapter 2

Page
Page
11 of31
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

6. Leadership
The statutory safeguarding partners have equal and joint responsibility for the multi-agency
safeguarding arrangements. Where the accountable person listed in Working Together to
Safeguard Children 2018 delegates their function, they remain accountable for the actions
and decisions taken on behalf of their organisation. If delegated, it is the responsibility of
the accountable person to identify and nominate a lead with enough seniority and authority
to ensuring full participation in these arrangements.
Representatives will be able to:
•
•
•

speak with authority on behalf of the safeguarding partner they represent
take decisions on behalf of their organisation or agency and commit them on policy,
resourcing and practice matters.
hold their own organisation and other organisations to account for the effective
participation and implementation these local arrangements.

The three safeguarding partners and representatives responsible for leading Islington’s
arrangements are:
Safeguarding Partner

Accountable person

Delegated
representative

Islington Council

Chief Executive

Corporate Director of
People (DCS)

Central North (CN) Basic
Command Unit, The
Metropolitan Police
Service

CN BCU Commander

Safeguarding Detective
Superintendent

Islington Clinical
Commissioning Group

Accountable Officer NCL

Chief Operating Officer
Haringey and Islington
CCGs

7. Functions
The arrangements will pursue its objectives through the exercise of the following functions:
7.1.

Policies and procedures

Develop policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, in
relation to and where action is to be taken around concerns for a child’s safety or welfare.
These include, for example:
•
•
•
•
•
•

thresholds for intervention
training of persons who work with children or in services affecting the safety and
welfare of children
recruitment and supervision of persons who work with children
investigation of allegations concerning persons working with children
safety and welfare of children who are privately fostered
co-operation with neighbouring Children’s Services authorities

Page
Page 12 32
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

The London Safeguarding Children Board Child Protection Procedures (2016), Continuum of
Need (Threshold document 2018) and, Competence Still Matters (2014) cover the majority
of procedural matters above. For matters not adequately covered by these procedures, the
partnership will develop local procedures and protocols.
7.2.

Communicating and raising awareness

Communicate to persons and bodies the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of
children, raising their awareness of how this can best be done, and encouraging them to do
so. This includes publishing a communication strategy to cover the development and
maintenance of:
•
•
•
•
7.3.

an independent website.
a suite of awareness raising leaflets, poster and media to support board partners and
professionals.
social media strategy.
a communication plan between the board, partners and professionals.
Monitoring, evaluation and quality assurance

The partnership will:
•

•
7.4.

monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what is done by the multi-agency
Partnership and Board partners individually and collectively to safeguard and
promote the welfare of children and advise them on ways to improve practice.
produce and publish an annual report on the effectiveness of safeguarding in the
local area.
Participating in planning and commissioning services to children and
families

The partnership will ensure that:
•
•
7.5.

strategies and plans sufficiently reflect the duty to safeguarding and promoting the
welfare of children.
plans and services are supported by high quality multi-agency assessments of local
safeguarding needs.
Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews

The partnership will undertake reviews of cases where a child has died or has been seriously
harmed in circumstances where abuse or neglect is known or suspected and advising on
lessons that can be learnt. To this end the Case Review sub-group of the Board will publish
a protocol that sets out:
•
•
•
•

how Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (LCSPR) will be commissioned and
resourced.
the chairing arrangements for different types of reviews.
the different range and types of reviews, including rapid reviews, single-agency
reviews, multi-agency reviews, statutory local and national reviews.
the quality assurance arrangements for all reviews.

Page
Page
13 of33
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

•
•
7.6.

governance arrangements between the Board, Case Review sub-group and any
panels that are appointed to oversee reviews.
the procedure of how serious cases will be referred and considered, including
referrals from Child Death Reviews (CDRs).
Child deaths

Child Death Reviews fall outside the scope to these arrangements, with the proviso that
CDOP reviews will be completed under the legacy arrangements of the Board and in line
with Working Together: Transitional Arrangements 5. The Board will conclude a protocol with
the Central North London Child Death Review System (CNL CDRS) arrangement that sets
out:
•
•

reporting arrangements between the Board and CNL CDRS.
referrals arrangements of cases that potentially meet the criteria for Local Child

Safeguarding Practice Reviews.

This document will be updated once the NCL arrangements are confirmed.
7.7.

Other activities

In addition to the above functions, the Board will engage in any other activity that
facilitates, or is conducive to, the achievement of its objectives.

Working Together: transitional guidance. Statutory guidance for Local Safeguarding Children
Boards, local authorities, safeguarding partners, child death review partners, and the Child
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel. July 2018

5

Page
Page 14 34
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

8. Governance structure
Strategic Partnerships
Youth Justice
Management
Service Board

Islington Multi Agency Safeguarding
Arrangements

Health and
Wellbeing Board

Safeguarding
Accountability
Meeting

Islington Adult
Safeguarding Board
Executive Board
Channel Panel

Page 35

Multi Agency Public
Protection
Arrangements

Islington Safeguarding Children Board
NCL Child Death
Review System

Safer Islington
Partnership
Violence Against
Women & Girls

Early Help

Quality Assurance

Training and
Workforce
Development

Missing Child /
Adolescent
Exploitation

Business Unit
Board Manager Board Co-ordinator

Education

Case Review

Task & Finish
· Policy & Procedure
· E-Safety

Multi Agency Child
Exploitation
Child Protection &
Vulnerability
Delivery Group
Corporate Parenting
Board

Page 15 of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

8.1.

Executive Board

The Executive Board is made up of representatives (as listed in 6.) of the statutory
safeguarding partners, sub-group chairs and the Independent Chair.
The role of the Executive Board is to provide strategic leadership, direction and support to
the Board to ensure it meets its statutory responsibilities.
The executive board will be chaired by the Independent Chair who is responsible for
publishing and reviewing the terms of reference of the executive.
8.2.

Independent Chair

Independent Scrutiny as outlined by Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 is to:
•

•

•
•

provide assurance in judging the effectiveness of multi-agency arrangements to
safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in a local area, including
arrangements to identify and review serious child safeguarding cases.
be part of a wider system which includes the independent inspectorates’ single
assessment of the individual safeguarding partners and the Joint Targeted Area
Inspections.
be objective, acting as a constructive critical friend and promoting reflection to drive
continuous improvement.
consider how effectively the arrangements are working for children and families as
well as for practitioners, and how well the safeguarding partners are providing strong
leadership and agree with the safeguarding partners how this will be reported.

The statutory safeguarding partners, in consultation with the Board, appoint the
Independent Chair to oversee, scrutinise and challenge local partners on how effective the
safeguarding arrangements are working for children, families and practitioners.
Independent chairs will be appointed for a period of two years after which the Board will
review if it is in the best interests of the partnership to appoint a new chair or whether to
confirm the existing chair in post for further two years. The maximum tenure for an
Independent Chair is 4 consecutive years.
The Chief Executive of the Local Authority, together with other accountable officers, will
ensure a system is in place to hold the Independent Chair and Delegated Partnership Leads
to account. To this end, a regular Safeguarding Accountability Meeting will be held and
include the Local Authority, Police and the CCG.
The responsibilities of the Independent Chair are set out in the Job Description outlined in
Appendix 2
8.3.

Board membership

The Independent Chair will ask agencies to nominate representative/s who:
•
•

have a strategic role in relation to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of
children within their organisation.
have adequate time to attend consistently and where necessary commit resources to
contribute to the effective work of the Board and sub-groups.

Page
Page 16 36
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

•

•

•

have adequate independence to be able to contribute effectively to key functions of
Islington Safeguarding Children’s Board. i.e. ensuring the effectiveness of local work
to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.
have an agreed mandate to:
o speak for and represent their organisation with authority,
o commit their organisation to policy and practice matters,
o hold their organisation to account.
act as a single point of contact between their agency and the Board, particularly
where the agency is represented by more than one representative.

All Board members will fulfil the role specification in Appendix 3
8.4.

Relevant Agencies

Relevant agencies play a key role in collaborating to safeguard children and young people.
Islington is fortunate to have commitment across all agencies who work with children and
young people. The strength of partnerships has been consistently recognised by external
inspections.
These arrangements recognise that a range of other organisations and groups have an
important contribution to make to the safeguarding agenda and work of the Board. Although
organisations might not be directly represented on the Board, their involvement will be
secured by direct involvement in sub-groups, steering groups or safeguarding networks
and/or their work. While organisations and agencies not listed or named in the regulations,
are not under a statutory duty, they should nevertheless cooperate and collaborate with
these arrangements.
In addition, the arrangements will draw on appropriate expertise and advice from frontline
professionals from all the relevant sectors where necessary.
The list of relevant agencies will be reviewed by the partnership annually and will include all
those listed in statutory regulations 6.
The full list of relevant agencies can be found in Appendix 4.
8.5.

Lay members

The arrangements will include 2 lay members. The role of lay members are to:
•
•
•
•

6

support stronger public engagement in child safety issues.
contribute to an improved understanding of the arrangements safeguarding work in
the local community.
challenge the Board on its accessibility by the public, children and young people on
its plans and procedures
foster links between the Board and community groups,

The Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018

Page
Page
17 of37
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

8.6.

Elected Members

The Lead Member for Children’s Services will be a participating observer of the Board. This
means routinely attending meetings as an observer and receiving all its written reports.
8.7.

Education settings

All early years’ settings, schools, colleges and other educational providers have duties in
relation to safeguarding children and promoting their welfare.
Arrangements will be made to engage, involve and include all schools (including multi
academy trusts), early years’ settings, colleges and other educational providers within the
new safeguarding arrangements. This engagement is supported by both the Board and
Education Sub-group to fulfil this requirement.
Schools and other providers have been named as relevant agencies as outlined in Appendix
4.
8.8.

Sub-groups

To effectively carry out its detailed responsibilities, these arrangements have a system of
sub- and steering groups whose terms of reference will reflect the principles in 4.1 and 4.2.
Sub-group terms of reference are outlined in Appendix 5
8.9.

Sub-group chairing

Sub-groups will be chaired by a Board member or senior staff from a member organisation
most appropriate to lead the work of the sub-group. The Chair will maintain relevant action
plans that are aligned with the overall business plan focusing on the Board priorities. The
Chair will prepare an annual report.
Steering groups will be chaired by staff from member organisations with expertise in the
area of the work of the steering group.
8.10. Sub-group membership
Sub-groups should have a core membership comprising of the Local Authority, Police and
Health. These members do not have to be members of the Board but will be chosen from
their agencies on the basis of their skills and knowledge. These members must be named by
their agencies and attend consistently. In addition, the sub-group chair can invite other
agencies to provide members for the sub-group. Agencies invited will depend on the subgroups work plan for the year.
The membership of steering groups will be determined by the nature of the work.
Sub-and steering groups provide a positive opportunity to involve front-line workers and key
technical staff. The chair of these groups will consider the need to involve these staff and in
what way the voluntary and community sectors are best involved in the work of these
groups.

Page
Page 18 38
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

9. Training
The arrangements have a comprehensive training offer in line with its training strategy,
Competence Still Matters, and the Business Plan.
The emphasis of the core group and additional training is to provide the knowledge and
skills to safeguard and protect children and to develop effective communication between
services.
The training offer sits in line with Competence Still Matters, 2014, issued by the London
Safeguarding Children Board.
The multi-agency core training offer includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Designated Safeguarding Lead – Roles and Responsibilities
Safeguarding and Child Protection Refresher / Update
Safeguarding and Information Sharing foundation
Serious Case Review Briefing
Working Together to Safeguard Children Induction
Trauma-informed practice

The Training and Workforce Development sub-group will ensure that specific or specialist
topics are covered and training programmes be continually revised to reflect priorities,
leaning from local / national reviews, research and other inquiries.
All of the training courses are free to anyone who works or volunteers with children, young
people and families within Islington.
The Training and Workforce Development sub-group will monitor the effectiveness of the
training strategy and advise the Board where necessary.
A copy of the Training Strategy is located on the Board’s website.

10.

Attendance

In order facilitate effective discussion and decision-making:
•

•
•
•

11.

board meetings require at least two of the three statutory safeguarding partners
along with two-thirds of its members, or delegated representatives in order reach a
quorum.
attendance at Board meetings will be monitored.
members who do not attend, or attend infrequently, will be contacted by the Chair to
find a resolution.
representatives from at least three individual organisations (including the sub-group
chair) should attend sub- and steering to reach quorum.

Decision making

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 states that safeguarding partners and
relevant agencies must act in accordance with arrangements for their area and will be
expected to work together to resolve any disputes locally.

Page
Page
19 of39
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

12.

Escalation Procedure

The Board will produce an escalation procedure that ensures practitioners feel supported
within their agencies to challenge aspects of practice that they do not feel are in the best
interests of children or young people. The escalation procedure will resolve differences of
professional opinion or concern about practitioners adhering to the following principles:
the safety and wellbeing of the child or young person is paramount.
ensuring the right conversations are had with the right people at the right time.
challenges must be resolved in a timely and predictable manner.
concerns, actions, responses and outcomes must be recorded and analysed in the
Board’s annual report.

•
•
•
•

13.

Communication

The Independent Chair and the Board Manager are authorised to speak on behalf of the
three safeguarding partners in relation to Islington MASA matters. Consultation with
partners will occur before releasing any communication.
Planned and pro-active communication by the partnership will be co-ordinated by the Board
Manager and disseminated through the Partnerships’ communications departments.
Where there are serious situations resulting in significant media and public interest, Board
partners are expected to liaise with the Independent Chair to agree on appropriate
communications strategy.

14.

Away Day

An annual Away Day will be delivered by the partners for Board members and relevant

agencies to consider the arrangements and future priorities.

15.

Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews - Rapid Reviews

16C(1) of the Children Act 2004 (as amended by the Children and Social Work act 2017)
states:
Where a local authority in England knows or suspects that a child has been abused or
neglected, the local authority must notify the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel if:
•
•

The child dies or is seriously harmed in the Local Authority’s area, or
While normally resident in the local authority’s area, the child dies or is seriously
harmed outside England

Upon notification of any event that meets the above criteria, a co-ordinated rapid review is
to be undertaken in line with Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 with the overall
aim to:
•
•

gather the facts about the case, as far as they can be readily established at the time
discuss whether there is any immediate action needed to ensure children’s safety
and share any learning appropriately

Page
Page 20 40
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

•
•

consider the potential for identifying improvements to safeguard and promote the
welfare of children
decide what steps they will take next.

The rapid review will be completed within 15 working days and is co-ordinated by Board
Manager. Upon completion, a copy of the Rapid Review Report is sent to the Child
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel along with a decision as to whether a Local- or National
Practice Review is appropriate.
The Independent Chair, on behalf of the safeguarding partners will be the final arbiter as to
whether or not to undertake a local practice review 7.
All reviews will be published in accordance with Working Together to Safeguard Children

2018.

The process of the Rapid Review is outlined in Appendix 6

16.

Local planning and governance

16.1. Independence
The Islington MASA will operate within the strategic partnership arrangements in place in
Islington for the planning and delivery of services for children. Islington’s multi agency
safeguarding partners have a unique statutory role which they must perform effectively.
This means they must be able to form a view of the quality of local activity, to challenge
organisations as necessary, and to speak with an independent voice.
16.2. Risk Register
The Board Manager will maintain and update the risk register. It will be reviewed at all
Board Meetings with a formal review outlined in the Annual Report.
16.3. Learning and Improvement Framework
The Board reviews, scrutinises and challenges local safeguarding arrangements and practice
in order to improve services to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in Islington.
The Board will maintain a local Learning and Improvement Framework which is shared
across local organisations that enables organisations to be clear about their responsibilities,
to learn from experience and improve services as a result.
The framework is built around two factors:
1. Learning from experience
• Reviews of safeguarding practice
• Identification of learning
2. Improving services
• Embedding learning in practice
• Evaluation of learning

7

Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel: Practice Guidance

Page
Page
21 of41
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

The framework will be monitored via the quality assurance sub-group and reviewed on an
annual basis.
A copy of the Learning and Improvement Framework can be located on the Board’s
website.
16.4. Working with other strategic partnerships
To be effective the Islington multi-agency safeguarding arrangements will link with other
local partnerships and boards. These include:
There is a joint proposal in place whereby the
chairs from these groups will meet to discuss
and understand issues and priorities to avoid
duplication and enhance collaboration.
The Board request to see an annual
report from the following
partnerships:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

17.

CP &
VDG

MACE

The Islington Safeguarding
Adult Board
VAWG
The Islington Corporate
Parenting Board
The Islington Channel Panel
MAPPA
Safer Islington Partnership
Youth Justice Service Management
Board
Multi-Agency Public Protection
Arrangements
Violence Against Women and Girls
Multi-Agency Child Exploitation

Health &
wellbeing

Islington
Community
of Schools

Adult

Islington
Safeguarding
Children
Board

Safeguardin
g

Corporat
e
Parenting

Channel
Panel
YJSMB

Safer
Islington
Partnership

Child Death Review System

The Board will receive a report once every 12-month period form the Child Death Review
Partners. Where safeguarding concerns are identified a referral to the Case Review subgroup will be made to consider whether or not to commission a Child Safeguarding Practice
Review.

18.

Reporting

The statutory safeguarding partners must publish a report at least once in every 12-month
period. The report must set out what they have done as a result of the arrangements,
including on child safeguarding practice reviews, and how effective these arrangements
have been in practice.
The report will also include:
•

evidence of the impact of work of the safe guarding partners and relevant agencies,
including training, on outcomes for children and families from early help to lookedafter children and care leavers.

Page
Page 22 42
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

•
•

•
•

an analysis of any areas where there has been little or no evidence of progress on
agreed priorities.
a record of decisions and actions taken by the partners in the report’s period (or
planned to be taken) to implement the recommendations of any local and national
child safeguarding practice reviews, including any resulting improvements.
ways in which the partners have sought and utilised feedback from children and
families to inform their work and influence service provision.
a summary of the ‘Voice of the Child, Parent and Families’.

The Report will be submitted to:
•
•
•
•
•

The Council’s Chief Executive and Leader of the Council
The Health and Wellbeing Board
The local Police and Crime Commissioner
ICCG Governing Body
Strategic Partners

A copy of the report will also be sent Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel and the
What Works Centre for Children’s Social Care within seven days of being published.
The report will be made publicly available and published on the Board’s website.

19.

The challenge function

One of the primary functions of Islington MASA is to monitor the effectiveness of the work
done to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. This covers not just the quality of
the joint work that goes on between partner agencies, it includes the quality of the work
within individual agencies.
The quality assurance and monitoring mechanisms set out, will build on those already in
place.
The challenge function will be undertaken by the Board through meetings, reports and
presentations. The Quality Assurance sub-group will fulfil the challenge function as part of
its monitoring and evaluation responsibilities.
The Board will receive and scrutinise regular quality assurance reports from individual
agencies. The aim of this process is to highlight any shortcomings in the effectiveness of the
practice within the agency.
If shortcomings are identified, the Board and the agency will agree on an action plan to
rectify the concern. Implementation of the plan and its impact will be reviewed by the Board
and sub-groups
Where a board partner’s performance surrounding the safeguarding and promotion of child
welfare is insufficient and the Board has not got the required assurance that any planned
action to improve is sufficient, the Independent Chair will explain these concerns to those
involved to be aware of the failing and any action that may follow. For example, to the most
senior individual(s) in the partner organisation and, if necessary, to the relevant regulatory
body.
Whilst the Board has a role in co-ordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of local
individuals’ and organisations’ work to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, it is

Page
Page
23 of43
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

not accountable for their operational work, nor does it have the power to direct other
organisations. Each board partner retains their own existing lines of accountability for
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children by their services.

20.

Resourcing and supporting the arrangements

20.1. Resourcing
The partners and members are responsible for ensuring that the Board is properly resourced
to a level that is adequate to fulfil the above functions effectively and consistently.
The Board will decide how each sub and steering group is to be resourced. This will include
arrangements for the efficient administration of the groups, representation from relevant
agencies and also the resources required to enable the groups to complete their work plans.
Board members are responsible for ensuring that their representatives on sub-and steering
groups have adequate time to carry out the work of those groups:
•
•
•
•

•

the Islington MASA to have an agreed joint budget with contributions from member
agencies.
each budget review will include a request to Board partners to contribute to the
funding of the Islington MASA
the Board Manager, in conjunction with the Chair, is responsible for the management
of the budget.
partners will agree what resources they will contribute in kind, or in human
resources, to supplement the cash contributions. This will include the resources for
the administrative support of sub-and steering groups as well as specific projects and
initiatives.
at the end of the financial year an income and expenditure analysis will be produced
as part of the annual report showing the Board’s financial position.

The new arrangements in its entirety is supported by the Business Unit which consists of:
•
•
•

Board Manager
Board Co-ordinator
Training and Development Manager

20.2. Arrangements for meeting

20.2.1. Safeguarding Accountability Meeting
•
•

The Safeguarding Accountability Meeting will meet 4 times per year
Two meetings are to include the Accountable Person and the Delegated
Representative from Health and the Police

20.2.2. Executive meeting
•

The Executive will meet 4 times per year in between Board meetings

20.2.3. Islington Safeguarding Children Board
•

Board will meet 4 times per year. The work year runs 1st April to 31st March

Page
Page 24 44
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

•
•
•
•
•

Each meeting will run 3 hours
Papers for discussion at a Board meeting must be received by the Board Coordinator two weeks before the meeting date
Papers for the Board will be distributed to members 1 week before the meeting
Items for the agenda must be received by the Chair of the Executive Group two
weeks before the meeting date
Minutes will be made publicly available on the website

20.2.4. Sub-and Steering groups
•
•
•
•

Sub-and steering groups will meet a minimum of 4 times per year
Minutes will be available for the Board meeting
Sub-and steering groups will develop work plans / forward plans based on the
Board’s objectives and business plan
Progress of the work plan will be reported annually to the Board by the Chair of
each sub and steering group

Page
Page
25 of45
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

APPENDIX 1 –Organisational Responsibilities & Section 11 8
A range of individual organisations and agencies working with children and families have
specific statutory duties to promote the welfare of children and ensure that they are
protected from harm.
Section 11 of the Children Act 2004
Places duties on a range of organisations, agencies and individuals to ensure their
functions, and any services that they contract out to others, are discharged having
regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.

Section 11 places a duty on:
•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Local authorities and district councils that provide children’s and other types of
services, including children’s and adult social care services, public health, housing,
sport, culture and leisure services, licensing authorities and youth services
NHS organisations and agencies and the independent sector, including NHS England
and clinical commissioning groups, NHS Trusts, NHS Foundation Trusts and General
Practitioners
The police, including police and crime commissioners and the chief officer of each
police force in England and the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime in London
The British Transport Police
The National Probation Service and Community Rehabilitation Companies
Governors/Directors of Prisons and Young Offender Institutions (YOIs)
Directors of Secure Training Centres (STCs)
Principles of Secure Colleges
Youth Offending Teams/Services (YOTs)

In addition to section 11 duties, further safeguarding duties are also placed on individual
organisations including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

8

Schools, colleges and other educational providers
Early Years and Childcare
Children’s homes
The secure estate for children
UK Visas and Immigration, Immigration Enforcement and the Boarder Force
Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service
Armed Services
Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements
Voluntary, charity, social enterprise, faith-based organisations and private sectors
Sports Clubs / Organisations

Working Together to safeguard Children 2018: Chapter 2

Page
Page 26 46
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

APPENDIX 2 – Independent Chair – Job Description
Purpose:
•
•
•

To ensure that the Board operates effectively and exercises its functions as set out in
the Children Act 2004, Children Social Work Act 2017 and relevant guidance
To ensure that Board has an independent voice and is capable of challenge
To promote the work of the Islington MASA at a strategic level by influencing interagency development and representing Islington’s MASA at the Children and Families
Partnership meetings

Responsibilities:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

To establish close working relationships with the Director of Children’s Services,
Police and CCG
To establish close working relationships with senior managers and child protection
leads of all other Board agencies
To manage all aspects of Board meetings, including agenda setting, chairing of
meetings, agreeing minutes and monitoring actions to be taken
To ensure the Board develops a robust performance-monitoring framework to ensure
that all agencies’ performance can be tested, including its own performance
To have oversight of the budget, which is managed day-to-day basis by the Board
manager
To ensure that all allocated resources, financial and human are utilised to meet
Board objectives and any shortfalls are bought to the attention of the funding
agencies
To chair any additional Board meetings convened as a response to specific and
exceptional circumstances
To contribute to Board seminars / conferences and member training as appropriate
To make the decision to convene a Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review
To ensure that the work of the Board is reflected in the wider Children & Young
People’s Plan
To respond to correspondence sent personally to the Chair and the Board generally,
referring matters to the relevant agencies for action
To undertake all functions of the post within the principles and practice of equal
opportunities and to demonstrate a commitment through personal behaviour and
management of attention to diversity issues

Page
Page
27 of47
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

APPENDIX 3 – Member’s Roles and Responsibilities
Role:
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Attend Board and sub-group meetings (where appropriate) or send a deputy when
unable to attend
If requested, to Chair a sub-group and ensure that sub-group achieves its work plan
Be the strategic lead for the safeguarding agenda within your organisation and be
the means by which your agency is consulted on safeguarding / child protection
issues
Ensure that the work of the Board is communicated to all relevant staff in your
organisation
Ensure Board priorities are embedded in your agency’s practice
Ensure that the work of the Board impacts on the strategic and operational planning,
decision making and practices of your organisation
Ensure that systems are put in place in your organisation to drive forward the
safeguarding agenda and report to the Board how this is achieved
Be accountable for compliant safeguarding practices within your organisation and
report any issues / challenges to the Board
Ensure that working within your organisation is compliant with Working Together
requirements
Ensure that the work of the Board is informed by the key relevant strategic and
operational issues affecting your organisation
Make decisions on behalf of your agency and commit available resources
Ensure that agency makes an appropriate contribution (financial or in kind) to the
resourcing of the Board
Make objective assessments and constructively challenge the safeguarding activity of
Board partners, including your own organisation
Keep up-to-date with emerging safeguarding issues
Ensure that confidentially is adhered to where appropriate

Responsibilities:
•
•
•
•
•

Read papers before meetings
Promote the safeguarding of children and young people in Islington and help to
improve key outcomes
Implement and influence priorities
Carry out tasks arising from the Board and sub-group meetings
Keep up-to-date with local, London-wide and national safeguarding developments

Role Specification:
•
•
•
•

All members are required to have an Enhanced DBS check
Have relevant knowledge and experience of safeguarding issues
Bring independence to the role
Use your person qualities and expertise in the interest of safeguarding / protecting
children and young people

Page
Page 28 48
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

APPENDIX 4 – Relevant Agencies
Education and Childcare
•

All schools including multi-academy trusts, colleges, and other educational
providers within the Islington Boundary

Health and Social Care
•
•
•
•
•
•

Islington Clinical Commissioning Group
Whittington Health NHS Trust
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Trust
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust
Camden and Islington Public Health
NHS England

Local Government
•

London Borough of Islington including Youth Offending Service

Criminal Justice
•
•
•
•
•

Cafcass
Metropolitan Police Service
London Probation Service
London Community Rehabilitation Company
HMP Pentonville

Police and Immigration
•

British Transport Police

Miscellaneous
•
•

Organisations from voluntary, charity, social enterprise, faith-based organisations
and private sectors
Sports clubs and organisations

Page
Page
29 of49
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

APPENDIX 5 – Terms of Reference
Executive Board
Responsibilities of this group are to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

develop, implement and monitor the Board’s Business Plan.
oversee the functions of sub-groups.
oversee the Learning and Improvement Framework.
agree priority actions against the Boards core business.
develop the Board’s forward plan and set the agenda for board meetings.
receive and agree policies and procedures from sub-groups.
review relevant national policy developments and initiatives, prepare briefing papers
to the Board, and recommended actions that may be required.
monitor attendance and agency representation for the Board and its sub-groups and
make recommendations as appropriate.
provide in-depth scrutiny around the Board’s priorities, including s11 duties.

Quality Assurance Sub-group
Responsibilities of this group are to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

develop agreed standards for inter-agency safeguarding work.
establish and maintain appropriate mechanisms and processes for measuring the
quality of inter-agency safeguarding work.
contribute to the development of strategies to address any shortfalls in effectiveness.
monitor and evaluate the quality of safeguarding work within individual Board
partner agencies.
contribute to the development of strategies for single agencies to address any short
falls in effectiveness.
audit and review the progress of the implementation of recommendations of
Learning Reviews.

Training and Workforce Development Sub-group
Responsibilities of this group are to:

•
•
•

identify the inter-agency training and development needs of staff and volunteers.
This includes needs arising from changes in legislation, formal guidance, evidence
from research and learning from case reviews.
annually review the Training Strategy – Competence Still Matters.
develop an annual training prospectus based on Competence Still Matters and Board
priorities.

Page
Page 30 50
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

ensure that the content of the training offered is based on latest research and
evidence ‘what works’ when working with children and families in need, including
those in need of protection.
ensure training methods used are appropriate to the training outcomes to be
achieved, and are based on evidence of what works in respect of skill/knowledge
development.
establish a quality assurance framework that will enable the sub-group and partner
agencies to monitor the quality and impact of their training programmes.
ensure relevant training is provided by individual organisations, in accordance with
the Training Strategy – Competence Still Matters.
ensure that training is reaching the relevant staff within organisations.
ensure lessons from reviews are disseminated.
monitor attendance in training.
ensure the delivery of the training programme is within context of diversity and equal
opportunities.
contribute to the Board’s Business plan.
Sub-group chair / Training Manager to produce a comprehensive overview annual
report in line with this terms of reference.
lead on development of an annual multi-agency conference in line the Board’s
priorities.

Education Sub-group
Responsibilities of this group are to:
•
•
•

•
•

contribute to reviewing the effectiveness of Board policies, procedures and systems
in educational settings.
act as professional consultation group to inform the development and monitoring of
Board responsibilities, practices and procedures.
promote a shared understanding of responsibilities and challenges faced by key
agencies when managing safeguarding and welfare to further strengthen multiagency work and collaboration.
identify and promote the dissemination of best practice in safeguarding, and the
expectations of the Board, across Islington schools and education providers
support the Board in efficiently and effectively addressing identified safeguarding
issues in educational settings.

Missing and Child / Adolescent Exploitation Sub-group
Responsibilities of group are to assist in:
•
•
•

reducing the risk of children going missing or being criminally exploited
improving intervention and diversionary activity for those who go missing, and offend
whilst missing, or who are at risk of criminal exploitation.
identifying perpetrators who assist children going missing, or aid in their criminal
exploitation, and disrupt / prevent their activity.

Page
Page
31 of51
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

•
•
•

building a problem profile for both missing children and the criminal exploitation of
children / adolescents in Islington.
identifying and disrupt peer-on-peer abuse in Islington.
using trauma informed approaches to problem solve in these areas and safeguard
vulnerable children and adolescents from harm.

Case Review Sub-group
Responsibilities of this group are to:
•
•

•

•

•
•

identify and consider cases, which potentially meet the criteria for a Local Child
Safeguarding Practice Review.
identify and consider those cases where lessons can be learned but which do not
meet the criteria for a Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review, including learning
from good practice.
develop and maintain a referral mechanism that is sensitive to serious incidents from
all the board’s partner agencies e.g. Serious Incident Notifications to Ofsted, Serious
Incidents in the NHS etc.
to develop and maintain a Learning and Improvement framework that will embed
local learning, identify themes and other learning from national cases, case work,
audits etc.
ensure that the learning from all case reviewing activity is embedded in practice
ensure that the Board discharges all relevant statutory duties, including requirements
from Safeguarding Board Regulations and Working Together to Safeguard Children

2018.

Early Help Sub-group
Responsibilities of this group are to:
•
•

•
•

•

monitor progress by the Partnership against Islington’s multi-agency Children and
Families Outcomes Plan.
improve data and information sharing to support the delivery of early help and
statutory support to families with multiple needs across children’s and adults’
services.
agree how and where to deploy resources to ensure they are targeted effectively
across the partnership.
develop and nurture a children’s and adults’ workforce that takes a whole family,
relationship based, and trauma informed approach to assessment, planning and
interventions.
ensure continuous improvement in the quality of practice, including assessments,
plans and interventions.

Page
Page 32 52
of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

•

•

ensure consistent and effective monitoring and evaluation systems are in place
across early help and statutory family support services that evidence the impact on
children and families’ lives.
promote and disseminate research findings and good practice in family support,
share service developments and information across partners.

Page
Page
33 of53
36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

Day 3 - 8

Day 2

Day 1

APPENDIX 6 – Rapid Review Process
Local Authority to notify the Board of a serious incident and provide with a Case for Consideration Report

Board Manager to notify partners and the Case Review Sub-group of the incident and provide with the Case for Consideration Report. Board Manager to send Rapid Review
template to relevant partners to complete. Date for the rapid review meeting set and communicated to those involved.

Partners to action as soon as communication is received:
· Check their databases and notify the Board Manager if the child is known to them or not
· Secure records as relevant
· Notify the Board of any other organisations / professionals who may have worked with the child
· Inform relevant senior managers and staff of the rapid review

Day 9

Board Manager to send out collated Rapid Reviews to partners prior to rapid review meeting

Day 9-12

RAPID REVIEW MEETING:
· Reviews the facts about the case presented
· Agrees any immediate action
· Considers the case against the criteria for a Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review
· Decides whether a Local Practice Review or other learning reviews should take place

Day 13

Case Review sub-group chair writes to Independent Chair with recommendation from rapid review meeting

Board Manager prepares Rapid Review Report
Day 14-15

Page 54

Completed rapid reviews are sent back to Board Manager

Signed off Rapid Review Report sent to the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel
(Involved partners notified of the Panel’s decision once received by the Board)

Page 34 of 36

Islington Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements

Reviewed By
Review Date
Next Review

Page
Page
35 of55
36

222 Upper St,
London N1 1XR
Telephone: 020 7527 4209
Email: iscb@islington.gov.uk
www.islingtonscb.ork.uk

Page 56

Agenda Item 6

Resources Department
Town Hall, Upper Street
London, N1 2UD
Report of: Chair of Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee
Meeting of

Date

Ward(s)

Executive

20 June 2019

All

Delete as appropriate

Non-exempt

Subject: Permanent and Fixed-Period Exclusion from School
– Findings of the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee
1.

Synopsis

1.1

This report requests that the Executive receive the report of the Children’s Services Scrutiny
Committee following the completion of its review of Permanent and Fixed-Period Exclusion
from School. A response to the recommendations set out in the report will be considered at
a future meeting of the Executive.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

That the report of the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee be received.

2.2

That the Executive Member’s response be reported to a future meeting of the Executive,
including having due regard to any relevant implications of the Children’s Services Scrutiny
Committee’s recommendations.

3.

Background

3.1

The review was held between July 2018 and April 2019. The overall aim of the review was
to examine the use and impact of fixed period and permanent exclusion from both primary
and secondary school, and make recommendations that will enable more children and
young people to remain in mainstream education.

Page 57

3.2

The objectives of the review included: to review the support available to excluded pupils
and to scrutinise if this is effective; to explore the reasons for exclusions and the reasons
why Islington schools have higher rates of exclusion than the Inner London average; to
evaluate the impact of permanent and fixed period exclusion from school for all
stakeholders; to assess the effectiveness of school based provision and work being done by
schools to improve behaviour and reduce exclusion, including access to effective support
services; to examine the variability in readiness to exclude across Islington schools and the
perception by some parents whose children have been excluded that some schools are
giving up on their children too soon and at too young an age; and to review alternative
interventions and approaches to fixed period and permanent exclusion and evaluate their
effectiveness, informed by national and local good practice in successfully reducing
exclusion.

3.3

In carrying out the review the Committee met with young people, parents, head teachers,
council officers and others to gain a balanced view. The Committee also considered relevant
data, guidance and other documentation. The report of the review, including the
Committee’s recommendations, is appended.

4.

Implications

4.1

Financial Implications
The proposals in the report need to be costed before a response is made by the Executive.

4.2

Legal Implications
Relevant legal implications will be considered as part of the response to the review.

4.3

Environmental Implications
There are no environmental implications at this stage. Any environmental implications will
be identified as part of the Executive Member response.

4.4

Resident Impact Assessment
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and
those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have
due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in
particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to
participate in public life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice
and promote understanding.
The Committee has had regard to any equalities implications and resident impacts identified
by witnesses during the course of the review. Details of any such implications are set out in
the appended report. A Resident Impact Assessment has not been completed as the
Executive is only asked to receive the report at this stage. The impact on residents will

Page 58

need to be fully considered as part of the Executive response to the review, at which point
a Resident Impact Assessment will be completed if required.
5.

Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

5.1

The Committee’s conclusions are set out in the appended report. Fourteen
recommendations have been made in response to the evidence received. These are related
to preventing exclusion, developing best practice in schools, supporting young people
excluded from school and their parents and urging central government to act in the best
interests of young people. The Executive is asked to endorse the Committee’s
recommendations.

Appendices:
 Permanent and Fixed-Period Exclusion from School – Report of the Children’s Services Scrutiny
Committee
Background papers:
 None.
Final report clearance:
Signed by:
Chair of the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee
Report author: Jonathan Moore, Deputy Manager Committee Services
Tel: 020 7527 3308
E-mail: jonathan.moore@islington.gov.uk

Page 59

Date

This page is intentionally left blank

Permanent and Fixed-Period Exclusion
from School

REPORT OF THE
CHILDREN’S SERVICES
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

London Borough of Islington
April 2019

Page 61

Foreword:
Islington has a high rate of exclusion. The exclusion rate is higher than the Inner London
and England averages and comparatively higher than Islington’s statistical neighbours.
This is not acceptable.
Exclusion is an equalities issue. Nationally, disadvantaged students, those with special
educational needs and disabilities, and pupils from certain ethnic minority groups are
significantly more likely to be excluded. Boys are far more likely to be excluded than girls.
Exclusion is a fairness issue. There is a significant variation in the exclusion rates of
Islington schools which cannot be justified. It is unfair that children attending some schools
are far more likely to be excluded than their peers attending other schools in the borough.
Exclusion penalises young people who have vulnerabilities, additional needs and
experiences of trauma. Exclusion can have significant personal and financial impacts on
young people and their families.
Exclusion has financial implications for the local authority which detrimentally impacts on
our ability to provide services to children and young people.
The Committee believes that Islington’s young people deserve better.
Education should be inclusive and exclusion should be prevented wherever possible.
Exclusion should only be used as a last resort. Fixed period exclusion is rarely an effective
method of managing behaviour; permanent exclusion is often avoidable.
The Committee’s recommendations seek to prevent exclusion, help our schools to develop
best practice, ensure that young people and their parents and carers are supported when
faced with exclusion and challenge central government on factors that are outside of
the council’s control.

Cllr Theresa Debono
On behalf of the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee

Page 62

1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Permanent and fixed period exclusion from school
Aim:
To examine the use and impact of fixed period and permanent exclusion from both primary
and secondary school, and make recommendations that will enable more children and
young people to remain in mainstream education.
Evidence:
The Committee commenced the review in July 2018. Evidence was received from a variety
of sources:
Evidence from Council Officers:
•
•
•
•

Candy Holder, Head of Pupil Services
Gill Sassienie, Principal Educational Psychologist
Ruth Beecher, Head of Early Help Services
Gabriella Di-Sciullio, Head of Admissions and Children Missing from Education

Evidence from young people and their families:
•
•
•

Visit to New River College and focus group with excluded pupils
Focus group with parents of excluded pupils
Follow-up focus group with parents of excluded pupils

Evidence from others:
•
•
•
•
•

Peter Gray, Independent Expert and Government Adviser
Dr Helen Aspland & Jane Stephenson-Glynn – Child and Adolescents Mental Health
Services (CAMHS)
Patrick Mildren, Head Teacher, Canonbury Primary School
Jamie Brownhill, Head Teacher, Central Foundation Secondary School
Nigel Smith, Head Teacher, New River College Pupil Referral Unit

Documentary evidence:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Exclusions Data
Briefing note: Government review of pupil exclusion, and a statement on alternative
provision
Exclusion from maintained schools, academies and pupil referral units in England:
Statutory guidance for those with legal responsibilities in relation to exclusion
(September 2017)
Department for Education: A Review of School Exclusion: terms of reference
Behaviour and discipline in schools: Advice for headteachers and school staff
(January 2016)
“They never give up on you” Office of the Children’s Commissioner School Exclusions
Inquiry (2011)

Page 63

2

Summary of Main Findings:
Islington has a high rate of exclusion in comparison to other London boroughs and its
statistical neighbours. The borough does not compare favourably in national rankings.
Although Islington has a high level of exclusion, there is a significant variation between the
exclusion rates of Islington’s schools.
While it is accepted that exclusion can be necessary in some instances, there is no need for
Islington’s exclusion rate to be as high as it is. All schools have broadly similar cohorts and
any variation in the demographic profile of schools is not significant enough to validate
such substantial differences in their exclusion rates.
The Committee believes that exclusion is a fairness issue. Exclusion can have serious
negative consequences for young people and their families; exclusion impacts on
educational attainment, family wellbeing, and limits the opportunities available to young
people. It is unfair that children attending certain schools are far more likely to be excluded
than their peers attending other schools in the borough.
The Committee received evidence on the range of support services available to young
people at risk of exclusion. Overall the Committee was satisfied with the range of support
services available, however, the Committee considers that schools should be further
encouraged and supported in making referrals to support services at the earliest possible
opportunity and to make best use of whole-school transformation programmes offered by
them.
The Committee heard concerns that some pupils with special educational needs and
learning disabilities may not be receiving adequate support to stay in mainstream
education. The Committee consider that closely linking special educational needs and
behaviour management functions would assist schools in supporting pupils with additional
needs that also have challenging behaviours. This may also result in an earlier diagnosis of
special educational needs.
The Committee would like to see a more joined up approach to managing behaviour and
exclusion in schools. Establishing behaviour and attendance partnerships would provide a
forum for schools to share best practice and problem-solve together. Additionally, this may
help to standardise practice between schools and develop a shared culture of managing
behaviour.
School governors are crucial to the exclusions process, but the Committee heard that not
all governors were confident in dealing with exclusion issues. The Committee suggests that
governors would benefit from specific training on exclusion issues and on reviewing school
behaviour policies, ethos and culture.
More sophisticated data sharing arrangements, developed with due regard to Data
Protection requirements, would help school staff to better understand the needs of young
people.

Page 64

3

The Committee recommends that the council produce a ‘Good Practice Guide’ for schools; a
practical document which provides schools with relevant information on exclusion matters,
including clear expectations and a strategic vision for schools to reflect on.
In addition to the Good Practice Guide, the Committee recommends that all schools should
affirm their commitment to inclusive education by signing a ‘Charter for Inclusion’. This
should be developed in consultation with schools, New River College, and young people.
The Committee was impressed with the work of New River College. The Committee
welcomes the ‘Good’ rating that New River College received in its most recent Ofsted
inspection. The Committee would like the council to support New River College in
challenging the stigma associated with attending a pupil referral unit.
Many parents felt that they needed help in navigating school and local authority processes
and did not know how to access independent sources of advice and advocacy. Further work
is needed to support parents in accessing advocacy services.
The Committee believes that the national increase in school exclusions is partly attributable
to national education policy. The Committee would welcome coordinated lobbying with
teaching unions, neighbouring local authorities and others to highlight the impact of the
government’s education policy and to campaign for changes that would support children to
remain in mainstream education.

Conclusions:
The focus of this review has been on exclusion; the impact that exclusion can have on
young people and their families, the exclusion practices of local schools, the services
available for pupils facing exclusion, and the reason why the number of exclusions has
increased in recent years. Considering the range of evidence received, there is no single
straightforward solution to prevent exclusion; exclusion reflects a plethora of complex and
interconnected factors, institutional, personal and social, that lead to a child facing the
trauma of exclusion from school. However, what seems clear is that exclusion can be
challenged by focusing on inclusion. Taking an inclusive approach is key to supporting
pupils with additional needs and challenges. Inclusivity should underpin the work of all
services involved in ensuring that young people remain engaged in education. The
Committee hopes that its recommendations will contribute to an inclusive approach to
supporting young people across the borough.
The Committee concludes that Islington’s exclusion rate is too high. The significant
variation of the exclusion rates of Islington’s schools is not justified and further focused
work with the highest excluding schools is needed. This work is important; exclusion is a
fairness issue that is having a real impact on young people and their families.
Fourteen recommendations have been made in response to the evidence received. These
are related to preventing exclusion, developing best practice in schools, supporting young
people excluded from school and their parents and urging central government to act in the
best interests of young people. The Committee would like to thank all the witnesses that
gave evidence in relation to the review. The Executive is asked to endorse the Committee’s
recommendations.

Page 65

4

Recommendations:
Helping our schools to prevent exclusions and support young people at risk of
exclusion
1. Schools should be encouraged to make referrals at the earliest opportunity to
support services such as Educational Psychology, CAMHS, the New River College
outreach service and Early Help services. Officers in Pupil Services and School
Improvement should liaise with service providers to ensure that they provide further
guidance to schools on when it is appropriate to make a referral, including how making a
referral can benefit the young person, their family and the school. Officers in Pupil Services
and School Improvement should undertake further work to continue to raise this as a priority
issue with school leaders through relevant forums, conferences and meetings, as
appropriate.
2. Schools should be further encouraged to make best use of the whole-school
transformation programmes offered by CAMHS, Educational Psychology, and the
New River College outreach services. In particular, schools should be encouraged to
implement trauma informed practices in consultation with CAMHS as a method of better
supporting children at risk of exclusion. To achieve this, officers in Pupil Services and School
Improvement should highlight the benefits of these transformation programmes through
relevant forums, conferences and meetings with school leaders, as appropriate. If required,
these services should review how their transformative services are promoted to schools.
3. Officers in Pupil Services and School Improvement should encourage schools to
closely link their Behaviour Management and Special Educational Needs
functions. This will help to ensure that pupils with behavioural difficulties are assessed for
special educational needs, can access support if required and the special educational needs
of pupils can be recognised in school behaviour management practices. Officers should
encourage schools to make this change through relevant forums, conferences, and meetings
with school leaders, as appropriate.
4. Officers in Pupil Services and School Improvement should encourage and support
all schools to form Behaviour and Attendance Partnerships. These would support
schools in taking a collaborative and strategic approach to addressing behaviour and
attendance issues through the sharing of best practice. This may reduce the variation
between school behaviour policies and practices, help to establish local standards for when
exclusion should be used and develop a shared culture of managing behaviour in Islington
schools.
5. School governors should receive training on how they can help to shape their
school’s culture and ethos, their role in the exclusion process, and how they can
scrutinise school behaviour policies and practices.

Page 66

5

6. To ensure that all school staff are well equipped to support young people at risk
of exclusion, officers should explore how information on pupil needs can be
shared widely between support services and school staff whilst meeting
confidentiality requirements. This could be achieved through adopting a ‘pyramid of
need’ approach, where a young person’s needs are categorised without explicit reference to
their individual circumstances.
7. The Securing Education Boards should consider if any of their processes can be
amended to offer additional support to pupils at risk of exclusion. The Committee
heard evidence of local schools working effectively to promote inclusion and avoid exclusion.
The Committee would welcome the support of the Securing Education Boards in promoting
examples of good practice to all schools so that all of Islington’s pupils can benefit from this
preventative work. For example, the Boards should consider if they can help schools in
identifying support for pupils at risk of exclusion at an earlier stage, and if they can further
support schools in identifying and implementing trauma-informed and solution-focused
approaches for pupils at risk of exclusion. The Boards should also consider if their processes
can be expedited for pupils at imminent risk of exclusion.
Developing best practice in our schools
8. Officers in Pupil Services and School Improvement should use the Committee’s
findings to produce a Good Practice Guide for schools. Specifically, this should
include:
• An aim for Islington’s schools to exclude no pupils;
• An objective for schools to avoid exclusions wherever possible, and not to use
alternative provision as a substitute;
• A challenge for schools to work in collaboration with each other and the local
authority to reduce Islington’s exclusion rate;
• Details of the support services available to young people at risk of exclusion, how
they can be accessed, and the benefits of making a referral at the earliest possible
stage;
• Details of the transformation programmes available to schools and how they can
help support pupils, including those at risk of exclusion;
• Examples of successful inclusion and behaviour management practices
adopted by schools;
• The importance of teacher wellbeing and how to support teachers to manage
behaviour effectively;
• The importance of listening to young people and their parents on behaviour and
exclusion issues;
• That behaviour policies and practices should be flexible for pupils with additional
needs;
• That schools should closely link their behaviour management and special educational
needs functions;

Page 67

6

•
•
•

•
•
•

That governors should receive training on exclusion and behaviour issues;
That parents have a right to transparent information on their child’s exclusion, and
issues related to school behaviour policies and practices;
That schools should signpost pupils and their parents or carers to independent
advocacy services when they are at risk of exclusion (i.e. when they are excluded
for more than five non-consecutive days in a school year);
That schools excluding pupils should provide comprehensive information to the
pupil referral unit on a pupil’s behaviour, attainment, progress and needs.
A practical toolkit or checklist to help schools in assessing and identifying support
for pupils at risk of exclusion;
A summary of the Committee’s conclusions, the impact that exclusion can have
on young people and their families, and the cost of exclusion.

Officers in Pupil Services and School Improvement should promote this guidance to head
teachers, school staff with responsibility for behaviour management and special educational
needs, and school governors.
9. A ‘Charter for Inclusion’ should be developed with Islington Schools and New
River College to affirm their commitment to supporting Islington’s young people
to stay in mainstream education. The Charter should make explicit links to the principles
set out in the Good Practice Guide and should be developed in consultation with young
people.
Supporting children and young people excluded from school
10. Officers should review the feasibility of attaching a named social worker to New
River College. Providing New River College with this resource, even for a few hours a week,
would enhance the support that is available to excluded pupils.
11. To remove the stigma associated with attending a pupil referral unit, officers
should work with New River College to widely promote the successes of its pupils.
Targeted information should also be provided to parents at the point of their child’s
exclusion, emphasising that New River College provides a supportive and nurturing learning
environment, and summarising the findings of New River College’s most recent Ofsted
inspection in which it was rated ‘Good’.
12. Officers should engage with neighbouring authorities and schools in neighbouring
boroughs close to the borough boundary, making them aware of this review and
the support that is expected for pupils who are Islington residents.

Page 68

7

Supporting parents and carers
In response to evidence received during the review, officers have already implemented the
following service changes:
(a) The council now provides more comprehensive information on independent sources of
support available to parents and carers on its website and in the initial letter which is
sent to parents and carers informing them of their child’s permanent exclusion from
school.
(b) Officers have asked Islington Law Centre to hold free parent workshops on the
exclusions process. The first session was held in November 2018.
(c) Islington Law Centre has offered to hold a series of monthly drop-in sessions, at no cost
to the council, for parents and carers seeking independent advice on issues arising from
their child’s exclusion.
Urging Central Government to act in the best interests of young people
13. Islington Council should lobby for national policy changes that would support
children to remain in mainstream education; including a broader curriculum, increased
funding for schools to better support children with additional needs, addressing educational
equalities issues, and reforming school league tables which encourage schools to compete
rather than collaborate and incentivise schools to exclude. Lobbying efforts should be
coordinated with teaching unions, neighbouring local authorities and others, if possible.
14. Officers should report back to the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee on the
findings of the national School Exclusions Review led by Edward Timpson CBE,
and detail if it is possible to implement its recommendations locally. The Committee
would also welcome information on the Government’s response to the Timpson review and
any implications for Islington.

Page 69

8

CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP - 2018/19

Councillors:
Councillor Theresa Debono (Chair)
Councillor Vivien Cutler (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Santiago Bell-Bradford
Councillor Rakhia Ismail
Councillor Michelline Safi Ngongo
Councillor Marian Spall
Councillor John Woolf
Councillor Kadeema Woodbyrne (to December 2018)
Councillor Phil Graham (from December 2018)
Co-opted Member:
Mary Clement – Roman Catholic Diocese Representative
Substitutes:
Councillor Satnam Gill OBE
Councillor Mouna Hamitouche MBE
Councillor Angela Picknell
Councillor Nick Wayne

Acknow ledgem ents:
The Committee would like to thank all the witnesses who gave evidence to the review.

Officer Support:
Candy Holder – Head of Pupil Services
Gabriella Di-Sciullio – Head of Admissions and Children Missing from Education
Jonathan Moore – Deputy Manager Committee Services

Page 70

9

1. Introduction
1.1 The review was held between July 2018 and April 2019. The overall aim of the review

was to examine the use and impact of fixed period and permanent exclusion from both
primary and secondary school, and make recommendations that will enable more
children and young people to remain in mainstream education.
The Committee also agreed the following objectives:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

To understand how the school exclusion process operates and the work undertaken at
school and local authority level to prevent exclusions.
To review the support available to excluded pupils, and to scrutinise if this is effective.
To explore the reasons for exclusions, and the reasons why Islington schools have
higher rates of exclusion than the Inner London average.
To evaluate the impact of permanent and fixed period exclusion from school for all
stakeholders – the young person, their parents and family, the school, the Pupil
Referral Unit and the Local Authority.
To assess the effectiveness of school based provision and work being done by schools
to improve behaviour and reduce exclusion, including access to effective support
services.
To examine the variability in readiness to exclude across Islington schools, and the
perception by some parents whose children have been excluded that some schools are
giving up on their children too soon and at too young an age.
To review alternative interventions and approaches to fixed period and permanent
exclusion and evaluate their effectiveness, informed by national and local good
practice in successfully reducing exclusion.
To evaluate provision for children and young people for whom mainstream education
may not be appropriate.
To review how all Councils services and functions can be utilised to reduce exclusions.
To understand if and how the council can work with academies and Trust Boards on
their exclusion practices.

1.2 In carrying out the review the Committee met with young people, parents, head

teachers, council officers, independent experts and representatives of support services to
gain a balanced view. The Committee also considered statistics, statutory guidance and
other documentary evidence.
National context

1.3 Exclusion from school is a national issue with significant implications for young people

and their families. Nationwide, 7,700 pupils were permanently excluded in 2016/17. This
was an increase of 1,000 over the previous year and continued a trend of year on year
increases since 2010/11. Fixed period exclusions increased to 382,000 in 2016/17, an
increase of 40,000 on the previous year. Nationally, boys are almost four times more
likely to be permanently excluded than girls.

1.4 Nationally, exclusion disproportionately affects ethnic minority pupils, pupils from lower

income households and pupils with special educational needs. In 2016/17, Black
Caribbean pupils were permanently excluded at nearly three times the rate of White

Page 71

10

British pupils. Pupils eligible for free school meals were four times more likely to be
permanently excluded than their peers. Pupils with special educational needs were five
times more likely to be permanently excluded than those without a diagnosed special
educational need.
1.5 In response to concerns around school exclusions, in March 2018 the Government

appointed Edward Timpson CBE to lead a review of school exclusions. This review will
make recommendations to the Government and will conclude in 2019.
Local context

1.6 Islington has a high rate of exclusion in comparison to other London boroughs. There

were 34 permanent and 1,251 fixed period exclusions in 2016/17. 679 pupils received
one or more fixed period exclusions. Islington’s overall permanent exclusion rate was
0.14%, higher than the Inner London average and the average of Islington’s statistical
neighbours (both 0.09%). The number of fixed period and permanent exclusions in
Islington increased annually between 2014/15 and 2016/17 and the borough does not
compare favourably in national rankings.

Secondary fixed period exclusion as a
percentage of school population
Secondary pupils with one or more fixed
period exclusions as a percentage of
school population
Secondary permanent exclusion as a
percentage of school population
Primary fixed period exclusion as a
percentage of school population
Primary repeat exclusion as a percentage
of school population
Primary permanent exclusion as a
percentage of school population

National Ranking
2015/16
128th/150 local
authorities
136th/150 local
authorities

National Ranking
2016/17
109th/150 local
authorities
124th/150 local
authorities

125th/150 local
authorities
107th/150 local
authorities
107th/150 local
authorities
Not ranked.

101st/150 local
authorities
133rd/150 local
authorities
143rd/150 local
authorities
102nd/150 local
authorities

1.7 In Islington, the most common reason for exclusion is “persistent disruptive behaviour”.

This is consistent with the national picture. There is no common definition of what
constitutes persistent disruptive behaviour; this will be determined by individual school
behaviour policies and staff expectations.

1.8 In Islington, the majority of exclusions are issued to boys, however a higher proportion

of girls are excluded in comparison to national statistics. A disproportionate number of
Black Caribbean and White British pupils are excluded in comparison to national
averages. Pupils eligible for free school meals and those with special educational needs
tend to receive fewer exclusions in comparison to national averages.

1.9 Although Islington has a relatively high level of exclusion, there is a significant variation

between the exclusion rates of Islington’s schools. Not all schools are high excluders; 13
of the borough’s primary schools did not issue any fixed period exclusions in 2017-18;

Page 72

11

whereas two issued fixed period exclusions to over 10% of their school roll. Five of the
borough’s secondary schools issued under 100 fixed period exclusions in 2017/18,
whereas one issued almost 300 and another almost 800. There is a similar variation in
the number of permanent exclusions.
1.10 Nationally, sponsored academies have a higher rate of exclusion than local authority

maintained schools. However, in Islington, there is no particular trend in academies,
faith schools or community schools being more likely to exclude than other types of
school.

1.11 Evidence received from council officers suggested that there was no justification for the

significant variation between the exclusion rates of different schools. All schools have
broadly similar cohorts and any variation in the demographic profile of schools is not
significant enough to validate such substantial differences in their exclusion rates. The
main difference between high and low excluding schools therefore seems to be a matter
of culture, ethos and approach to behaviour management, rather than other factors.

1.12 Islington Council is committed to fairness. The Fairness Commission in 2010 and the Fair

Futures Commission in 2018 examined the serious challenges and inequalities faced by
Islington residents and made recommendations to make Islington a fairer place.
Islington Council’s Corporate Plan sets out a vision of fairness for the borough:

We’re determined to make Islington fairer and to create a place where everyone,
whatever their background, has the same opportunity to reach their potential and enjoy
a good quality of life.
The Committee believes that exclusion is a fairness issue. Exclusion can have serious
negative consequences for young people and their families; exclusion impacts on
educational attainment and family wellbeing and limits the opportunities available to
young people. It is unfair that children attending certain schools are far more likely to be
excluded than their peers attending other schools in the borough. The disproportionate
effect that exclusion has on young people from Black Caribbean and White British
backgrounds is unacceptable.
1.13 Given that the borough’s high exclusion rate seems to be attributable to a small number

of schools, it is considered that targeted work with the highest excluding schools would
be more effective than radically altering the borough’s approach to supporting schools
and pupils at risk of exclusion. However, the Committee also considers that all schools
could benefit from further guidance and the sharing of best practice. It is hoped that the
Committee’s recommendations will be helpful in guiding future work with schools and
will result in a reduction in the borough’s exclusion rate, as well as helping to address
the fairness issues connected to school exclusion that have a real impact on young
people and their families.

Page 73

12

2. Findings
The impact of exclusion from school
2.1

The Committee reviewed the impact of exclusion on young people and their families. The
evidence received indicated that exclusion can have a very serious negative impact on
young people and can last for many years. Some children who are excluded do not
successfully re-engage with education; their lack of qualifications limits their life chances
and embeds a disadvantage in comparison to their peers. National statistics indicate that
young people who have been excluded from school are more likely to be not in
education, employment or training (NEET) and are more likely to be involved in
offending.

2.2

The Committee held focus groups with young people and parents to learn about the
impact that exclusion had on them. A number of examples were given of exclusion
having a serious detrimental impact on young people. Some parents said that their child
had withdrawn entirely from education following their exclusion and were experiencing
mental and physical health issues. Some parents said that their children were not set
work while serving fixed period exclusions and their parents were concerned about the
impact that this would have on their education. Some parents were concerned that
exclusion from school had made their children vulnerable to grooming by gangs. Parents
were worried about their child’s future, their education and employment prospects.

2.3

Parents also said that exclusion had a negative impact on their life, their employment
and their wellbeing. It was commented that exclusion could feel like a punishment for
parents. Parents had to stay at home with their children while they were serving a fixed
period exclusion; this meant that parents could not go to work, attend appointments, or
take part in other activities outside of their home. Some parents said that their
employment was in jeopardy because they frequently had to stay at home with their
child while they were serving repeat fixed period exclusions. This was putting families at
financial risk, and was putting parents under considerable stress, which could impact on
their physical and mental health.

2.4

The Committee asked young people at New River College about their experiences of the
exclusions process. Many of the young people interviewed accepted and understood why
they had been excluded from school. They were reflective about their experiences and
spoke with regret about the incidents that had led them to be excluded. Some said that
they did not accept the reasons for their exclusion. Some said that they had served
multiple fixed period exclusions prior to their permanent exclusion, and cited seemingly
trivial incidents to which fixed period exclusion appears to be an excessive and
unjustified response. It is not possible or appropriate for the Committee to form an
opinion on particular cases without having full knowledge of the circumstances, however,
fixed period and permanent exclusion should only be used as a last resort and the
Committee would be concerned by schools using exclusion as a punishment for minor
breaches of the behaviour policy.

2.5

Some of the young people interviewed said that they felt powerless and frustrated by
the exclusion process; they felt that they did not have a voice in the exclusion process or
an adequate opportunity to defend themselves.

Page 74

13

2.6

Some pupils said that following their exclusion they did not trust schools or teachers.
One young person said that he had been told by a teacher at his school that the
teaching staff wanted him to be excluded. Another young person commented that his
mother did not speak fluent English and he felt the school “tricked” his mother. The
Committee heard examples of young people being promised additional support prior to
their exclusion, such as access to a mentor, however this support either did not
materialise or was not implemented successfully prior to their exclusion.

2.7

Parents were keen to emphasise that fixed-period exclusion was not an effective
punishment for their children. Parents of children with certain special educational needs,
or of young primary age children, said that their child could not comprehend why they
had been excluded. It was commented that these pupils considered having time off
school was a reward rather than a punishment. One parent said that their child had been
issued with multiple fixed period exclusions and suspected that they may have been
purposefully misbehaving to spend more time at home. Some parents said that they
respected the school’s decision to exclude and wanted to discipline their children at
home, however could not do this effectively without having school work or educational
activities to set them. Some parents commented that their children were not supported
when returning to the school after a fixed period exclusion and said that a reintegration
process would be beneficial.

2.8

Exclusion can also have an impact on siblings. Some parents reported that the siblings of
pupils who had been excluded were unfairly stigmatised by their school. Some siblings
had been warned not to misbehave, otherwise they could be excluded too. This was
causing them unnecessary worry and stress.

2.9

Exclusion also has a detrimental financial impact on the local authority. While the impact
on young people and their families is the most pressing concern, it must be noted that
exclusion comes at a cost to local authority budgets. The administration of the exclusion
process and the cost of placing young people in the pupil referral unit is considerable. In
the context of decreasing local authority budgets and increasing demand for services,
the expenditure on exclusion is effectively diverting much needed funding from other
services for young people.
Why is Islington’s exclusion rate so high?

2.10 The Committee was keen to explore why Islington’s exclusion rate is so high in

comparison to its statistical neighbours and other London Boroughs. The Committee
received evidence from a range of witnesses on the factors which may be contributing to
Islington’s high exclusion rate.

2.11 Islington has relatively high levels of deprivation; the 2015 Index of Multiple Deprivation

shows that Islington is the 24th most deprived borough in the country. 35% of children
under the age of 16 live in low income households, the third highest nationally. Over a
quarter of children live in households where no one is in employment. National statistics
indicate that schools in the most deprived areas have the highest levels of exclusion.

Page 75

14

2.12 The Committee also heard that schools which adopt a ‘zero tolerance’ behaviour

management approach tend to have higher rates of exclusion. Some of Islington’s
schools have adopted such approaches in recent years. The Educational Psychology
service thought that schools should allow a level of flexibility in their behaviour policies
for pupils with additional needs. Similarly, CAMHS representatives commented that
behavioural systems that don’t allow for differentiation based on children’s individual
needs effectively set vulnerable children up to fail. This is consistent with evidence
received from parents. Parents considered that some schools were not adequately
meeting the requirements of those with special educational needs and disabilities and
said that their children had been excluded for behaving in a way that was consistent
with their additional needs.

2.13 Witnesses spoke of the importance of school ethos and culture. Representatives from

the Educational Psychology Service commented that schools which had a nurturing ethos
and involved parents in their work tended to exclude fewer pupils than schools that had
a stronger focus on enforcing rules. It was also advised that schools with higher rates of
staff wellbeing tended to have lower rates of exclusion. Similarly, evidence from CAMHS
suggested that stressed and overwhelmed teaching staff could lead to escalating,
reactive and punitive behaviour management practices. CAMHS officers said that some
behaviour management techniques can be triggering to young people with mental health
issues.

2.14 The Committee heard evidence on the new challenges that schools faced in Islington.

Schools had observed that the behaviour of pupils had become increasingly challenging
in recent years. There had been an increase in the number of violent incidents, and
there was an increased pressure from parents to exclude pupils for violent incidents. It
was also noted that teaching unions had concerns about pupils remaining in mainstream
school after violent incidents, emphasising the importance of the health and safety of
school staff and pupils.

2.15 The Committee also received evidence regarding why there had been a national increase

in exclusions over recent years. Once such reason was thought to be changes to the
exclusion appeals process. Under the previous process the Independent Appeals Panel
was able to review a school’s decision to permanently exclude and overturn the decision
if they considered it appropriate. New regulations introduced in 2012 gave school
governors greater responsibility for exclusions and replaced the Independent Appeals
Panel with the Independent Review Panel. The Independent Review Panel may only
quash a decision to exclude when public law principles are contravened. The Panel can
request that governors reconsider the decision to exclude, but have no power to compel
them to do so. Since the change in regulation, the number of successful exclusion
appeals in Islington has reduced from 57% to 21%.

2.16 The Committee also considered that national policy changes may have introduced

perverse incentives for schools to exclude pupils. For example, it was suggested that the
increasingly limited funding available to schools may contribute to decisions to exclude.
Supporting a disengaged child to remain in mainstream education is very resource
intensive, whereas excluding a pupil does not present any additional costs to schools.
Similarly, it was suggested that the introduction of the new school curriculum and the
increasing focus on academic performance in school league tables may incentivise some

Page 76

15

schools to exclude low attaining pupils, although issuing an exclusion for academic
reasons is unlawful. The current framework for ranking school performance does not
reward schools for being inclusive. The Committee did not receive any specific evidence
of these issues being a contributing factor to exclusions in Islington, however it may not
be coincidental that the national increase in the number of exclusions since 2010 has
occurred alongside sustained government cuts to school budgets and major changes to
the curriculum. This context may be useful in helping to understand the factors which
have led to a national increase in school exclusions.
2.17 The above factors may have contributed to Islington’s high rate of exclusion; however,

the Committee does not consider that these reasons justify Islington having a higher
rate of exclusion than its statistical neighbours. As already noted, there is a high level of
variation in the exclusion rates of Islington’s schools, but there is not a sufficient
difference in their cohorts to justify such significant variation in their number of
exclusions. In addition, evidence from the Educational Psychology Service suggested that
some exclusions appeared to be avoidable. It was commented that a lack of support for
teaching staff and training on how to manage behavioural issues in an inclusive way may
be contributing to the borough’s exclusion rate.

2.18 Although it is accepted that exclusion can be necessary in some instances, the

Committee concludes that there is no need for Islington’s exclusion rate to be as high as
it is. The Committee respects the autonomy of local schools and understands that the
council cannot direct schools to revise their behaviour management practices. However,
it is not acceptable that young people are being excluded, with serious implications for
the young person and their family, if there are alternative courses of action available.
Exclusion should only be used as a last resort and should be prevented wherever
possible. The Committee would therefore want to set a challenge to the whole borough
to accept that the current situation is not good enough and to find solutions that will
support schools in preventing exclusion and offer greater support to excluded pupils and
their parents. Islington Council cannot achieve this alone; improvements will only be
achieved through comprehensive and constructive partnership work between the local
authority, school leaders, governing bodies, teaching staff, support services and others.
The remainder of this report focuses on possible solutions identified by the Committee in
relation to the evidence received.

Finding solutions: Helping our schools to prevent exclusions and support
young people at risk of exclusion
2.19 The Committee received evidence on the range of support services available to young

people at risk of exclusion. These included Early Help services, Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Services (CAMHS), Educational Psychology, the New River College
Outreach service and services commissioned or provided by schools themselves.

2.20 Early Help services work collaboratively with schools, council services and partner

organisations to support the early identification of children and families requiring
additional support but who do not meet the threshold for statutory intervention.
Practitioners work with families on a range of issues, including access to education.
Early Help services are able to mediate and advocate for families in schools; facilitate
meetings between young people, their parents, the school and other services and

Page 77

16

support parents in implementing boundaries, routines and appropriate responses to their
child’s behaviour. The services seek to take a positive approach and focus on a family’s
strengths rather than their weaknesses. An Early Help worker is linked to every school in
the borough; the service is present at parent evenings and sometimes informal
engagement events are held, such as coffee mornings for parents.
2.21 CAMHS is a multidisciplinary service with representation from a range of psychologists

and psychotherapists. The service has a basic core offer for schools which is funded by
the Islington Schools Forum. This provides all primary schools with access to a CAMHS
worker for half a day a fortnight for 5/6 half terms, and all secondary schools with
access to a CAMHS worker for a day a week for 5/6 half terms. In addition to the core
provision, schools may buy in additional CAMHS services. Six secondary schools and 12
primary schools in the borough had agreed a SLA with CAMHS which expanded on the
core offer. The service provided support to young people, including direct clinical
assessment and intervention, intervention groups, workshops for parents and individual
parent consultations. CAMHS officers advised that young people at risk of exclusion were
particularly vulnerable and often had multiple and complex needs, which could include
mental health issues. This could include attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD),
autistic spectrum conditions, developmental issues and issues developed in response to
experiences of trauma.

2.22 The Educational Psychology service provides a core funded service which includes

assessments of pupils at serious risk of exclusion, assessments of vulnerable young
people, assessments of children under 5 with complex needs and contribution to the
development of Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs). Additional traded services
could be purchased by schools, including consultations and assessments for pupils with
special educational needs and direct interventions for individuals and groups.
Assessments were used to inform interventions which may be delivered by the school or
other services. These could focus on developing a young person’s social interaction skills,
how they regulate their own behaviour, emotional development and building positive
relationships with adults in the school.

2.23 The Committee heard that schools also make use of the outreach service offered by New

River College. The head teacher of New River College advised that the service was
received well by schools and the schools that used the service the most tended to have
lower rates of exclusion. This was supported by evidence from Canonbury Primary
School which considered that the support offered by the outreach service had been very
effective in helping to prevent exclusion. The support offered included assessment of
children with behavioural and emotional needs and interventions with individual pupils
and groups of children. Some pupils at risk of exclusion in mainstream schools also had
temporary placements at New River College, attending for two days a week.

2.24 All of the support services providing evidence to the Committee emphasised the

importance of early intervention. The Committee was advised that pupils engaging with
support services were less likely to be excluded, and if they had to move school, then
this process would be managed more carefully with professional involvement. However,
some services also expressed concern that pupils were not being referred for support at
an early enough stage. In particular, the Educational Psychology service noted that they
only had contact with five of the 32 permanently excluded pupils in 2017-18 and two of

Page 78

17

those had only accessed the service after their exclusion. Although this limited
involvement could suggest that the service was effective at preventing pupils from being
excluded, officers thought that they should be involved in more cases. It was
commented that services were sometimes asked to develop interventions for young
people already on the cusp of exclusion when it was often too late for the intervention to
make a meaningful difference.
2.25 The evidence received from schools indicated that head teachers understood the

benefits of early intervention. In particular, it was agreed that providing support to pupils
with additional social, emotional and behavioral needs from a young age would help to
minimise the development of more severe behavioral issues. However, it was advised
that schools could find it challenging to identify the pupils in need of support at an early
stage. Sometimes it was only apparent that young people needed additional support
after their needs and behaviour had escalated.

2.26 Overall, the Committee was satisfied with the range of support services available for

young people. However, the Committee considers that schools should be further
encouraged and supported in making referrals to support services at the earliest possible
opportunity. This may require the council to provide further guidance on when and how
to make a referral. In some instances, it may be necessary to restate the benefits of
early intervention.

2.27 Recommendation 1:

Schools should be encouraged to make referrals at the earliest opportunity to
support services such as Educational Psychology, CAMHS, the New River
College outreach service and Early Help services. Officers in Pupil Services and
School Improvement should liaise with service providers to ensure that they provide
further guidance to schools on when it is appropriate to make a referral, including how
making a referral can benefit the young person, their family and the school. Officers in
Pupil Services and School Improvement should undertake further work to continue to
raise this as a priority issue with school leaders through relevant forums, conferences
and meetings, as appropriate.

2.28 The CAMHS, Educational Psychology and the New River College Outreach services

emphasised that they did not just provide interventions for pupils but whole school
transformation programmes which seek to develop the policies and practices of schools
to enable them to better support pupils with additional needs.

2.29 The New River College Outreach Service helped schools to develop their own support

and interventions for pupils at risk of exclusion. This was beneficial to teaching and nonteaching staff who would feel better equipped in supporting young people with
challenging behaviours. Work with schools could include staff training on behaviour
management strategies; development of behaviour support systems; the development of
small groups focused on anger management, social skills, and self-esteem and support
with developing a more nurturing environment in school. One school had used the
outreach service to carry out a behavior audit. This involved observing lessons and
developing a staff training programme in response. Since the audit, the school had not
permanently excluded a pupil for several years.

Page 79

18

2.30 The Educational Psychology Service provided workforce development and policy

development sessions to schools. The service also worked directly with teachers on how
to embed different approaches for pupils with additional needs. It was particularly useful
for teaching staff to have a basic understanding of adolescent psychology and
attachment issues as this helped them to recognise and understand their pupils’
behaviours. The service also helped to support staff wellbeing by giving them the
capacity to manage stress, the emotional impact of their role, and to help them to deescalate situations in the classroom. The service also worked with head teachers on
developing a school ethos that was inclusive and supportive for vulnerable pupils. This
could include developing pastoral care and improving relationships with parents.

2.31 The Committee noted the bespoke transformation work offered by the CAMHS service.

In particular, CAMHS staff were passionate about taking a ‘whole school approach’ which
involved working with schools, public health and school improvement officers to develop
trauma informed practices in schools. Officers commented that this had a real impact on
how schools worked with young people and helped to promote wellbeing and resilience.

2.32 During the course of the review CAMHS was working with nine primary schools, two

secondary schools and New River College on the Islington Trauma Informed Schools
Pilot (ITIPS). This pilot was working to embed trauma informed approaches in schools
to enable them to better support vulnerable young people, including those at risk of
exclusion. Trauma informed approaches recognised that young people with additional
needs, including those at risk of exclusion, tended to have experienced traumatic events
earlier in their life. This could include domestic violence, parental substance abuse,
neglect, family break up and a range of other adverse experiences. Traumatic events
impact on child development as they result in the young person prioritising skills and
responses which help the child to survive their environment; for example, self-defence,
provoking conflict, controlling behaviour and attention seeking. The result of this is that
children do not prioritise learning skills which are less immediately relevant to survival;
this includes social skills such as sharing and listening, problem solving and learning to
manage their emotions. The trauma informed approaches pilot was therefore working
with school staff so that they could recognise the symptoms of trauma and more
effectively support young people who had traumatic experiences.

2.33 CAMHS also provided more generalised training to school staff on how to support young

people with mental health issues. However, CAMHS officers had noticed that the same
staff routinely attended their sessions. It was suggested that it would be beneficial for a
wider range of school staff to develop their skills by attending the training on offer.

2.34 Evidence received by the Committee indicated that transformative work with schools was

an effective and sustainable way of supporting young people at risk of exclusion.
Furthermore, embracing trauma informed approaches is likely to have a broader
beneficial impact on young people and may help to prevent young people’s needs from
escalating further. However, evidence from support services also indicated that not all
schools were accessing the transformation programmes available, or were not using
them as extensively as they could be. The Committee therefore considers that schools
should be further encouraged and supported to make best-use of these programmes.

Page 80

19

2.35 Recommendation 2:

Schools should be further encouraged to make best use of the whole-school
transformation programmes offered by CAMHS, Educational Psychology, and
the New River College outreach services. In particular, schools should be
encouraged to implement trauma informed practices in consultation with CAMHS as a
method of better supporting children at risk of exclusion. To achieve this, officers in Pupil
Services and School Improvement should highlight the benefits of these transformation
programmes through relevant forums, conferences and meetings with school leaders, as
appropriate. If required, these services should review how their transformative services
are promoted to schools.

2.36 The Committee heard concerns that some pupils with special educational needs and

learning disabilities may not be receiving adequate support to stay in mainstream
education. Some parents advised that their child had been disciplined, or even excluded,
for behaving in a way that was consistent with, or a result of, their additional needs.
Some parents believed that their school had not successfully implemented their child’s
Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and said that some schools were not willing to
make reasonable adjustments to their behaviour policies for children with special
educational needs and disabilities. One parent had raised this with their child’s school
who had responded to say that they would consider making adjustments to their
punishment methods, but not to how their rules were enforced.

2.37 Some parents advised that their children were only diagnosed with special educational

needs after their exclusion from mainstream school. Parents thought that if their child’s
special educational needs were diagnosed earlier then they would have received support
in school and may not have been excluded. This was supported by representatives from
Educational Psychology and CAMHS who indicated that some pupils at risk of exclusion
had undiagnosed special educational needs. It was commented that some of these
young people had multiple and complex needs but they may not have previously met the
criteria for formal diagnosis or may not have been referred or engaged with SEND
services.

2.38 CAMHS officers noted that some schools had a structural disconnect between their

special educational needs and behaviour management functions. These schools may not
see a child’s behaviour in the context of their special educational needs and therefore
may not provide them with the support they need to manage their behaviour effectively.
Similarly, pupils with challenging behaviour may not be assessed for special educational
needs when they may be eligible for additional support. The Committee consider that
closely linking special educational needs and behaviour management functions would
assist schools in supporting pupils with additional needs that also have challenging
behaviours. This change may also lead to the earlier diagnosis of special educational
needs in young people at risk of exclusion.

Page 81

20

2.39 Recommendation 3:

Officers in Pupil Services and School Improvement should encourage schools
to closely link their Behaviour Management and Special Educational Needs
functions. This will help to ensure that pupils with behavioural difficulties are assessed
for special educational needs, can access support if required and the special educational
needs of pupils can be recognised in school behaviour management practices. Officers
should encourage schools to make this change through relevant forums, conferences,
and meetings with school leaders, as appropriate.

2.40 Evidence received from Peter Gray, an independent expert on school exclusion, advised

that there had been a nationwide decrease in exclusion between 2006 and 2010. There
were various factors which contributed to this, one of which was the formation of
‘Behaviour and Attendance Partnerships’ in which schools took collective responsivity for
coordinating and commissioning services for young people at risk of exclusion. Since
2010 the majority of these partnerships had been disbanded or incorporated into other
forums.

2.41 The Committee welcomes that Islington already has well established school partnerships

through the Schools Forum, the Community of Schools and other forums. However, the
Committee received evidence that it would be beneficial for schools to take a more
collaborative and strategic approach to behaviour issues. Given that some Islington
schools have high levels of persistent absence, it would be beneficial for these
partnerships to cover attendance issues also.

2.42 Officers from the council’s Early Help services explained that it was challenging to work

across schools that had very different behaviour policies. Different rules at different
schools made it difficult to give parents consistent and helpful advice on how to support
their child in managing their behaviour. In addition, some parents queried why some
behaviours were punished more severely in some schools than others. The fact that
schools have such different approaches to managing behaviour may be the cause of the
high variation in the exclusion rates of Islington schools.

2.43 The Committee would like to see a more joined up approach to managing behaviour and

exclusion in schools. Establishing behaviour and attendance partnerships would provide
a forum for schools to share best practice and problem-solve together. Additionally, this
may help to standardise practices between schools and develop a shared culture of
managing behaviour. It is important for these partnerships to be school-led, to ensure
that the partnership addresses the issues which are important to schools and takes
collective responsibility for behaviour and attendance issues.

2.44 Recommendation 4:

Officers in Pupil Services and School Improvement should encourage and
support all schools to form Behaviour and Attendance Partnerships. These
would support schools in taking a collaborative and strategic approach to addressing
behaviour and attendance issues through the sharing of best practice. This may reduce
the variation between school behaviour policies and practices, help to establish local
standards for when exclusion should be used and develop a shared culture of managing
behaviour in Islington schools.

Page 82

21

2.45 School governors are crucial to the exclusions process, however the Committee heard

that not all governors were confident in dealing with exclusion issues.

2.46 Schools are required to convene a Governor Hearing to review a head teacher’s decision

to permanently exclude. The governors may decide to either uphold the head teacher’s
decision or reinstate the pupil. If the decision is upheld, the parent can request a review
by the Independent Review Panel. The Independent Review Panel does not have the
power to reinstate a pupil, unless the governors’ decision is quashed for reasons of
illegality, irrationality or procedural impropriety. The Panel can recommend that
governors reconsider their decision to exclude, however it was thought that some
governors would always choose to support a head teacher’s decision.

2.47 Governing bodies also have a key role in shaping a school’s culture and ethos,

particularly in relation to behaviour management. Governors are responsible for setting
objectives for the school, agreeing the school’s behaviour policy and holding the head
teacher to account. A school’s culture and ethos appear to be crucial factors in
determining whether a school is a high or low excluding school. A school’s ethos will
shape how support for pupils is commissioned and provided, standards for behaviour
and how rules are enforced.

2.48 The Committee suggests that governors would benefit from specific training on exclusion

issues and on reviewing school behaviour policies. If there are concerns about the high
level of exclusion in Islington schools, then these concerns should be shared with
governors so they can challenge and review their school’s practices in a constructive and
informed way.

2.49 Recommendation 5:

School governors should receive training on how they can help to shape their
school’s culture and ethos, their role in the exclusion process, and how they
can scrutinise school behaviour policies and practices.

2.50 CAMHS officers suggested how support for pupils at risk of exclusion could be improved.

It was suggested that more sophisticated data sharing arrangements, developed with
due regard to Data Protection requirements, would help school staff to better
understand the needs of young people. CAMHS officers advised that some areas had
adopted ‘pyramid of need’ approaches, where a young person’s needs were categorised
without explicit reference to their individual circumstances. This allowed a wide range of
school staff to be aware of a young person’s needs and how best to support them,
without having sensitive information or details of their personal circumstances.

2.51 Some of the parents interviewed suggested that there should be greater information

sharing between schools, the police and the local authority, commenting that schools
may be able to better support pupils if they had a more detailed understanding of the
challenges they faced outside of school. The Committee would welcome greater
information sharing if it would lead to school staff being better informed on how to
support young people at risk of exclusion.

Page 83

22

2.52 Recommendation 6:

To ensure that all school staff are well equipped to support young people at
risk of exclusion, officers should explore how information on pupil needs can
be shared widely between support services and school staff whilst meeting
confidentiality requirements. This could be achieved through adopting a ‘pyramid of
need’ approach, where a young person’s needs are categorised without explicit reference
to their individual circumstances.

2.53 The Committee considered what else could be done to support schools in identifying

support for young people at risk of exclusion. It is suggested that the Securing Education
Boards may be able to offer further assistance in promoting best practice and identifying
solutions at an early stage, with particular reference to trauma informed practice.

2.54 There are two Securing Educations Boards, one for primary schools and another for

secondary. The Boards include representatives from Children’s Social Care, New River
College, CAMHS, Targeted Youth Support, Pupil Services, School Improvement, the
Educational Psychology Service and Schools. The Primary Board is chaired by a head
teacher on a rotating basis, and the Secondary Board has an independent Chair. The
Boards meet monthly to consider the placement of pupils in difficult circumstances. This
includes those at risk of exclusion, those with medical needs, and who have disengaged
from education. Schools make referrals to the Board and the Board makes a
recommendation on how the child can be supported to stay in education or where the
child should be placed if it is necessary to arrange a move. Sometimes this results in a
move to another mainstream school, or a managed move to New River College, rather
than through exclusion. Officers commented that all schools are well engaged in the
work of the Boards.

2.55 The Committee welcomes that schools have access to a multi-disciplinary board for

assistance with difficult to place young people. However, it is queried if the Boards could
amend their processes to offer further support to young people at risk of exclusion at an
earlier stage. It would be helpful if schools could call on the Board for advice on best
practice and to help them problem-solve for pupils who are not engaging with other
interventions. The Committee recommends that the Boards are asked to consider this
further, including if their processes could be expedited for pupils at imminent risk of
exclusion.

2.56 Recommendation 7:

The Securing Education Boards should consider if any of their processes can
be amended to offer additional support to pupils at risk of exclusion. The
Committee heard evidence of local schools working effectively to promote inclusion and
avoid exclusion. The Committee would welcome the support of the Securing Education
Boards in promoting examples of good practice to all schools so that all of Islington’s
pupils can benefit from this preventative work. For example, the Boards should consider
if they can help schools in identifying support for pupils at risk of exclusion at an earlier
stage, and if they can further support schools in identifying and implementing traumainformed and solution-focused approaches for pupils at risk of exclusion. The Boards
should also consider if their processes can be expedited for pupils at imminent risk of
exclusion.

Page 84

23

2.57 Finding solutions: developing best practice in our schools
2.58 The Committee received a great deal of evidence that does not directly lend itself to a

specific recommendation but would be helpful for the council to communicate to school
leaders and governors. The Committee also considers that it would be helpful for the
council to set clear expectations in relation to exclusion and a strategic vision for schools
to reflect on. The Committee recommends that this information is codified into a ‘Good
Practice Guide’ for schools; a single, accessible and practical document which provides
schools with relevant information on exclusion matters.

2.59 The guide should include an aim for Islington’s schools to exclude no pupils. While it is

accepted that some exclusions are necessary, the expressed aim should be to keep all of
Islington’s young people in mainstream education. This should be supplemented by an
objective for schools to avoid exclusions wherever possible and not to use alternative
provision as a substitute for exclusion. The Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee has
previously reviewed alternative provision and has made recommendations to reduce its
use.

2.60 The guide should include clear information on the support services and transformation

programmes available to schools, as well as examples of successful inclusion and
behaviour management practices. The Committee considered examples of good practice
in Islington schools, however other schools may also have effective or innovative
practices that should be shared with our schools. Examples of good practice considered
by the Committee included: the use of ‘nurture hubs’ in schools where children with high
levels of need can learn in a different environment with more intensive support from
school staff; the use of therapeutic interventions; restorative justice approaches;
evaluating behaviour incidents and changing school practices to ‘design-out’ such
incidents; the use of digital ‘help buttons’ so teaching staff can discreetly call on
additional staff to assist with a behaviour incident and the use of mentors for pupils so
they have a positive relationship with a trusted adult.

2.61 The Committee also heard that some schools made use of ‘inclusion’ as an alternative to

exclusion, with pupils effectively serving a fixed period exclusion in isolation within the
school. Serving an exclusion within school may be appropriate in some instances,
however the Committee also heard from parents that pupils can find this very
challenging and this is not an effective punishment if they are not invited to reflect on
their behaviour, are not provided with adequate work and are not supported when
reintegrating into the classroom. While ‘inclusion’ is preferable to fixed period exclusion,
guidance should be provided on how to make such practices work effectively.

2.62 The guide should emphasise the importance of teacher wellbeing. Teaching staff may

need emotional and wellbeing support in order to manage challenging behaviour
effectively. CAMHS and Educational Psychology are able to provide support in this area,
although other sources of support are available.

2.63 The guide should emphasise the importance of listening to young people and their

parents. Some of the young people interviewed said that they felt powerless and
frustrated by the exclusion process. Some parents felt that they were not being listened
to, or their views were being ignored. Some of the parents interviewed suggested that

Page 85

24

schools should have ‘Parent Panels’ to work with the school on developing their
processes and policies. Developing positive relationships with young people and their
parents is important to allow honest conversations to take place.
2.64 The guide should emphasise that parents have a right to transparent information on

their child’s exclusion. Some parents provided the Committee with letters from their
child’s school which did not provide a detailed explanation of why their child had been
excluded. Parents felt that they could not work with their child on improving their
behaviour without having detailed reasons of why their child had been excluded.

2.65 The guide should specify that schools should signpost pupils and their parents and carers

to independent advocacy services when they are at risk of exclusion. Some of the
parents interviewed did not know how to access advice or support and felt that they
needed independent support on navigating school and local authority processes. It
would be helpful for schools to signpost parents to this support when necessary.

2.66 The guide should highlight the importance of providing comprehensive information to

New River College on a pupil’s behaviour, attainment, progress and needs. New River
College took a highly personalised approach to working with children and young people,
recognising their individual needs and challenges. This was informed by the information
received from mainstream schools. New River College commented that the information
received from Islington schools was generally very comprehensive, although from time
to time further information was necessary.

2.67 The guide should also include a practical toolkit or checklist to help schools in assessing

young people’s needs and identifying possible sources of support.

2.68 The Committee recommends that the guide should be promoted to head teachers,

school staff with responsibility for behaviour management and special educational needs,
and school governors.

2.69 Recommendation 8:

Officers in Pupil Services and School Improvement should use the
Committee’s findings to produce a Good Practice Guide for schools. Specifically,
this should include:
• An aim for Islington’s schools to exclude no pupils;
• An objective for schools to avoid exclusions wherever possible, and not to use
alternative provision as a substitute;
• A challenge for schools to work in collaboration with each other and the local authority
to reduce Islington’s exclusion rate;
• Details of the support services available to young people at risk of exclusion, how
they can be accessed, and the benefits of making a referral at the earliest possible
stage;
• Details of the transformation programmes available to schools and how they can
help support pupils, including those at risk of exclusion;
• Examples of successful inclusion and behaviour management practices adopted
by schools;

Page 86

25

• The importance of teacher wellbeing and how to support teachers to manage
behaviour effectively;
• The importance of listening to young people and their parents on behaviour and
exclusion issues;
• That behaviour policies and practices should be flexible for pupils with additional
needs;
• That schools should closely link their behaviour management and special educational
needs functions;
• That governors should receive training on exclusion and behaviour issues;
• That parents have a right to transparent information on their child’s exclusion, and
issues related to school behaviour policies and practices;
• That schools should signpost pupils and their parents or carers to independent
advocacy services when they are at risk of exclusion (i.e. when they are excluded for
more than five non-consecutive days in a school year);
• That schools excluding pupils should provide comprehensive information to the
pupil referral unit on a pupil’s behaviour, attainment, progress and needs.
• A practical toolkit or checklist to help schools in assessing and identifying support
for pupils at risk of exclusion;
• A summary of the Committee’s conclusions, the impact that exclusion can have on
young people and their families, and the cost of exclusion.
Officers in Pupil Services and School Improvement should promote this guidance to head
teachers, school staff with responsibility for behaviour management and special educational
needs, and school governors.
2.70 The Education Select Committee, in their report ‘Forgotten children: alternative provision

and the scandal of ever increasing exclusions’ recommended that a ‘Bill of Rights’ be
adopted for pupils and parents. It was recommended that this specify that schools
should not rush to exclude pupils, parents and pupils have a right to know how often
schools resort to exclusion, parents deserve more information when their children are
excluded and pupils and their parents should have someone in their corner. The
government has not yet adopted a ‘Bill of Rights’ approach, however the Committee
considers that Islington Council could develop something similar locally to confirm the
rights of parents and pupils.

2.71 In addition to the Good Practice Guide, the Committee recommends that all schools

should affirm their commitment to inclusive education by signing a ‘Charter for
Inclusion’. Schools should be nurturing environments where everybody is welcome,
which support pupils to remain in mainstream education and which are flexible to pupils
with additional needs. The Charter should link to the principles set out in the Good
Practice Guide and should be developed in consultation with schools, New River College
and young people. It may be appropriate to consult with New River College pupils and
the Youth Council. It is hoped that the Charter will lead to a more unified and fairer
approach to exclusion across the borough.

Page 87

26

2.72 Recommendation 9:

A ‘Charter for Inclusion’ should be developed with Islington Schools and New
River College to affirm their commitment to supporting Islington’s young
people to stay in mainstream education. The Charter should make explicit links to
the principles set out in the Good Practice Guide and should be developed in consultation
with young people.
Finding solutions: supporting children and young people excluded from
schools

2.73 The Committee received evidence on the role of pupil referral units and visited New

River College to talk with students and staff about their experiences.

2.74 The Committee was impressed with the work of New River College and had positive

discussions with staff and students. The school has implemented personalised and
trauma informed approaches and has high aspirations for its pupils. New River College is
clearly committed to supporting young people with additional needs and has achieved
good academic results in a challenging context. Staff work hard to identify pathways for
young people; in the previous year no New River College pupils had become NEET and
for the past three years fewer than ten pupils had become NEET. New River College also
involved parents in their work and held sessions to develop their relationships with
parents as well as pupils. The Committee welcomes that New River College Secondary
received a ‘Good’ rating in its most recent Ofsted inspection dated November 2018.
Approximately 30% of pupils attending New River College were reintegrated into
mainstream education. These were typically pupils in Year 9 or at the start of Year 10. It
was unlikely that pupils in Years 10 and 11 would be re-integrated as they would
struggle to catch up with their GCSE studies.

2.75 The pupils interviewed said that they liked New River College, that they felt supported

and they welcomed the additional flexibility they had in comparison to mainstream
school. Some parents spoke very highly of New River College. One parent said that their
child was excluded from primary school and had been in New River College since Key
Stage 2. New River College had taught their child to read and write, had helped the child
receive a special educational needs diagnosis and was now providing the pupil with
additional support as detailed in their EHCP. Another parent said that their child was
excluded at age 16. Although they were initially worried about their child attending a
PRU, they were now very happy with the provision, commenting that New River College
was welcoming and supportive and gave their child the additional help they needed.
Parents said that New River College engaged with pupils in a way that they could relate
to and teacher-pupil relationships were based on mutual respect.

2.76 New River College works closely with support services. A CAMHS worker is fully

integrated into New River College, working with pupils three days a week. The
Committee asked New River College if they needed any further support from Islington
Council. In response, it was commented that it would be helpful to have support from a
social worker. This would enhance the offer of support available to young people. The
Committee recommends that this be explored and provided from within existing
resources if possible.

Page 88

27

2.77 Recommendation 10:

Officers should review the feasibility of attaching a named social worker to
New River College. Providing New River College with this resource, even for a few
hours a week, would enhance the support that is available to excluded pupils.

2.78 The Committee heard that young people face stigma for being excluded and attending

New River College. Some parents said that they were worried about what they would tell
friends and family, what their child would list on their CV and how other people would
view them. If children are re-integrated into mainstream education, some then had a
reputation for having attended “a unit”.

2.79 The Committee found that there was a misunderstanding of New River College and of

pupil referral units more generally. The Committee spoke with parents whose children
were at risk of exclusion who expressed concern about PRUs; they were worried about
the quality of the provision and of the impact of placing a large number of excluded
children together in the same setting. This contrasted with parents whose children
already attended New River College, who generally spoke positively about their
experiences.

2.80 New River College acknowledged that some people had negative perceptions of pupil

referral units. Although pupil referral units could be challenging settings, the reality was
that New River College was a nurturing and supportive school. However, New River
College was concerned that this negative perception was having an impact on their
students and was detrimental to their wellbeing. New River College was working to
challenge the perception of pupil referral units but this was not an easy task.

2.81 The Committee would like the council to support New River College in challenging the

stigma associated with attending a pupil referral unit. The successes of New River
College should be promoted in the local community and targeted information should be
provided to the parents of excluded pupils to reassure them and explain that New River
College is a nurturing and supportive environment.

2.82 Recommendation 11:

To remove the stigma associated with attending a pupil referral unit, officers
should work with New River College to widely promote the successes of its
pupils. Targeted information should also be provided to parents at the point of their child’s
exclusion, emphasising that New River College provides a supportive and nurturing learning
environment, and summarising the findings of New River College’s most recent Ofsted
inspection in which it was rated ‘Good’.

2.83 The Committee heard that only around half of New River College pupils had previously

attended Islington schools. Children are only eligible to attend a pupil referral unit in
their home borough and around half of New River College’s pupils had attended schools
in neighbouring boroughs prior to their exclusion.

2.84 The Committee recognises that many pupils living in Islington attend schools beyond the

borough boundary. Although the council does not have a formal relationship with those
schools, it is recommended that the council engage with neighbouring authorities and

Page 89

28

schools close to the borough boundary to make them aware of this review and the
council’s expectations for pupils living in Islington.
2.85 Recommendation 12:

Officers should engage with neighbouring authorities and schools in
neighbouring boroughs close to the borough boundary, making them aware of
this review and the support that is expected for pupils who are Islington
residents.
Finding solutions: supporting parents and carers

2.86 The evidence received from parents was very useful in understanding the impact that

exclusion had on young people and their families. During the focus group, parents were
clear that they needed more support. Many parents felt that they needed help in
navigating school and local authority processes and did not know how to access
independent sources of advice and advocacy.

2.87 Officers attending the focus group considered that there were actions that could be

implemented immediately to help parents. Approval was received from the Executive
Member for Children, Young People and Families to immediately implement three
actions, listed below.

In response to evidence received during the review, officers have already
implemented the following service changes:
(a) The council now provides more comprehensive information on independent sources of
support available to parents and carers on its website and in the initial letter which is
sent to parents and carers informing them of their child’s permanent exclusion from
school.
(b) Officers have asked Islington Law Centre to hold free parent workshops on the
exclusions process. The first session was held in November 2018.
(c) Islington Law Centre has offered to hold a series of monthly drop-in sessions, at no cost
to the council, for parents and carers seeking independent advice on issues arising from
their child’s exclusion.
Finding solutions: Urging Central Government to act in the best interests of
young people
2.88 The Committee recognises that schools and the council cannot prevent all exclusions in

Islington. Nationally, the number of exclusions has increased in recent years and this is
largely due to factors beyond the control of local authorities.

2.89 Schools face increasingly severe financial pressures which is having a real impact on

staff resources, as well as access to support services and extra-curricular activities. A
recent national survey found that only 2% of head teachers believed that the top-up
funding they received was sufficient to meet the needs of pupils with SEND. The move
towards a narrower curriculum leading into exams and the decline in opportunities to
study arts and vocational subjects has led to some young people disengaging from
learning. League tables are incentivising schools to compete rather than collaborate and

Page 90

29

may be providing perverse incentives to exclude lower attaining pupils.
2.90 The Committee believes that the national increase in school exclusions is partly

attributable to national education policy. Some of the changes to the education system
introduced since 2010 have been detrimental to the wellbeing of young people, their
families and school staff. The Committee would welcome coordinated lobbying with
teaching unions, neighbouring local authorities and others to highlight the impact of the
government’s education policy and to campaign for changes that would support children
to remain in mainstream education.

2.91 Recommendation 13:

Islington Council should lobby for national policy changes that would support
children to remain in mainstream education; including a broader curriculum,
increased funding for schools to better support children with additional needs,
addressing educational equalities issues, and reforming school league tables which
encourage schools to compete rather than collaborate and incentivise schools to exclude.
Lobbying efforts should be coordinated with teaching unions, neighbouring local
authorities and others, if possible.

2.92 The national review of school exclusions, chaired by Edward Timpson CBE, was due to

conclude in late 2018. It was hoped that its conclusions would be published within the
review period and the Committee would be able to consider its findings. However, at the
time of writing the Timpson review has not yet concluded. The Committee would be
very interested in the findings of the review and the government’s response and would
welcome a report on this to a future Committee meeting.

2.93 Recommendation 14:

Officers should report back to the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee on
the findings of the national School Exclusions Review led by Edward Timpson
CBE, and detail if it is possible to implement its recommendations locally. The
Committee would also welcome information on the Government’s response to the
Timpson review and any implications for Islington.

3. Conclusions
3.1 The focus of this review has been on exclusion; the impact that exclusion can have on

young people and their families, the exclusion practices of local schools, the services
available for pupils facing exclusion and the reason why the number of exclusions has
increased in recent years. Considering the range of evidence received, there is no single
straightforward solution to prevent exclusion; exclusion reflects a plethora of complex
and interconnected factors, institutional, personal and social, that lead to a child facing
the trauma of exclusion from school. However, what seems clear is that exclusion can be
challenged by focusing on inclusion. Taking an inclusive approach is key to supporting
pupils with additional needs and challenges. Inclusivity should underpin the work of all
services involved in ensuring that young people remain engaged in education. The
Committee hopes that its recommendations will contribute to an inclusive approach to
supporting young people across the borough.

Page 91

30

3.2 The Committee concludes that Islington’s exclusion rate is too high. The significant

variation of the exclusion rates of Islington’s schools is not justified and further focused
work with the highest excluding schools is needed. This work is important. Exclusion is a
fairness issue that is having a real impact on young people and their families.

3.3 Fourteen recommendations have been made in response to the evidence received.

These are related to preventing exclusion, developing best practice in schools,
supporting young people excluded from school and their parents and urging central
government to act in the best interests of young people. The Committee would like to
thank all the witnesses that gave evidence in relation to the review. The Executive is
asked to endorse the Committee’s recommendations.

Page 92

31

APPENDIX A

SCRUTINY REVIEW INITIATION DOCUMENT (SID)
Review: Permanent and fixed period exclusion from school
Scrutiny Committee: Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee
Director leading the review: Mark Taylor, Director of Schools and Learning
Lead Officer: Candy Holder, Head of Pupil Services
Overall aim:
• To examine the use and impact of fixed period and permanent exclusion from both
primary and secondary school, and make recommendations that will enable more
children and young people to remain in mainstream education.
Objectives of the review:
•

To understand how the school exclusion process operates and the work undertaken at
school and local authority level to prevent exclusions.

•

To review the support available to excluded pupils, and to scrutinise if this is effective.

•

To explore the reasons for exclusions, and the reasons why Islington schools have higher
rates of exclusion than the Inner London average.

•

To evaluate the impact of permanent and fixed period exclusion from school for all
stakeholders – the young person, their parents and family, the school, the Pupil Referral
Unit and the Local Authority.

•

To assess the effectiveness of school based provision and work being done by schools to
improve behaviour and reduce exclusion, including access to effective support services.

•

To examine the variability in readiness to exclude across Islington schools, and the
perception by some parents whose children have been excluded that some schools are
giving up on their children too soon and at too young an age.

•

To review alternative interventions and approaches to fixed period and permanent
exclusion and evaluate their effectiveness, informed by national and local good practice
in successfully reducing exclusion.

•

To evaluate provision for children and young people for whom mainstream education
may not be appropriate.

•

To review how all Councils services and functions can be utilised to reduce exclusions.

•

To understand if and how the council can work with academies and Trust Boards on their
exclusion practices.

Page 93

32

Scope of the review:
The review will focus on:
• Exclusion trends/characteristic in Islington, including the different rates of exclusion
between boys and girls, and the disproportionate representation of some minority ethnic
groups; the interaction between these characteristics; why do certain groups appear
more likely to be excluded?
• If pupils eligible for free school meals or with special educational needs are more likely to
be excluded than the remainder of the cohort
• The effectiveness of exclusion in addressing disruptive behaviour, both for the excluded
young person and across the school.
• The factors which influence schools’ decisions to exclude, and their interaction with other
services whose interventions, in partnership with the school and the family, might
otherwise have helped to avoid exclusion.
• The impact of support, monitoring, challenge and intervention mechanisms from the
Local Authority / Academy sponsors on schools’ exclusions practices.
• The role of governors and Trust boards/Chief Executives in endorsing school policies,
providing scrutiny and challenge of exclusion decisions by schools.
• The extent to which permanently excluded children and young people are able to return
to mainstream education, and the challenges this presents for all stakeholders.
• Examples of good practice in managing children identified as being at risk of exclusion
(e.g. Islington Schools with zero exclusion), and in reducing exclusion rates (including
between different groups of pupils).
• If there are any common factors among pupils who are excluded and those who are
persistently absent.
Type of evidence:
The Committee will:
• Hear the views of individuals affected by the exclusion of a child from school and their
real-life experiences and observations of the exclusion process
• Be fully briefed on the current exclusion process including arrangements for appeal
• Visit New River College (Pupil Referral Unit) - the main destination for permanently
excluded children and young people - to meet staff and young people
• Observe a Head Teachers briefing (all Islington Head Teachers) and discuss their views
• Receive witness evidence from national advisers
It is proposed that witness evidence is taken from:
• Children and young people excluded from school and their families
• Representative Headteachers
• Peter Gray, Independent Expert (Government Adviser)
• Gabriella Di-Sciullio, Head of Admissions and Children Missing Education
• Nigel Smith, Executive Head of New River College
• Gill Sassienie, Principal Educational Psychologist
• Head of Early Help Service
• Representative from Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
Written evidence will include:
• Annual report on Schools and Learning (June 2017)
• Department for Education (DfE) statistical release: permanent and fixed period
exclusions from schools and exclusion appeals in England 2016/17 (July 2018)

Page 94

33

•
•
•
•

Exclusion from maintained schools, academies and pupil referral units in England;
Statutory guidance for those with legal responsibilities in relation to exclusion (DfE) (Sept
2017)
Behaviour and discipline in schools; Advice for headteachers and school staff (DfE)
(January 2016)
‘They never give up on you’ – Office of the Children’s Commissioner School Exclusions
Inquiry (2012)
A Review of School Exclusion: terms of reference (May 2018) Edward Timpson for DfE
(due to report to the Prime Minister by the end of 2018)

Additional information:
In carrying out the review the committee will consider equalities implications and resident
impacts identified by witnesses. The Executive is required to have due regard to these, and any
other relevant implications, when responding to the review recommendations.

Witness Evidence Plan

Committee Meeting – Monday 16 July 2018
Who / What

Area of focus – Introductory Information

•

Scrutiny Initiation Document

For the Committee to agree the aim, objectives
and scope of the review.

•

Candy Holder, Head of Pupil Services

Introductory presentation to include exclusions
data; processes; the legislative framework; the
roles and responsibilities of schools, the local
authority, young people and their parents; and
an overview of the impact that exclusions can
have on young people, their families, schools,
the Pupil Referral Unit and the Local Authority.

August Recess
Who / What
•

Written Evidence

Area of focus – Background Information
Written evidence will be circulated to members
over the August recess. This will include
background information that may be of interest
to members; i.e. previous reviews carried out at
national level, statutory guidance produced by
the Department for Education, national statistics
and so on.

Page 95

34

Committee Meeting – Thursday 13 September 2018
Who / What
•

Gill Sassienie, Principal Educational
Psychologist

•

Ruth Beecher, Head of Early Help
Services

•

Representative of Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Services

Area of focus – The Council’s Role in
Prevention and Support
The role of the educational psychology service in
preventing exclusions and supporting pupils.
The role of early help services in supporting
pupils staying in school and preventing
exclusion.
The mental health support available to young
people at risk of exclusion, and to those who
have been excluded.

Scrutiny Visit – 2 October 2018
Who / What
•

Focus Group with parents of excluded
pupils

Area of focus – The views of parents
To discuss exclusion issues with parents, their
experiences and views on how schools and
support services operate, the impact of
exclusion on the family, how they think services
and processes could be improved to better
support young people and prevent exclusions.

Committee Meeting – Thursday 18 October 2018
Who / What

Area of focus – The National Context

•

Peter Gray, Independent Expert and
Government Adviser

The national context and work underway across
the country to prevent exclusion and support
excluded pupils. To include best practice from
other areas, and details of the government’s
Review of School Exclusion, due to conclude in
late 2018.

•

Gabriella Di-Sciullio, Head of Admissions
and Children Missing from Education

The exclusion appeals process.

Scrutiny Visit – 21 November 2019
Who / What
•

Visit to the New River College Pupil
Referral Unit to meet excluded pupils and
Nigel Smith, the Executive Head of New
River College

Area of focus – The experiences of young
people
To talk to excluded young people about their
experiences, to assess provision for excluded
pupils, and to discuss the review with the
Executive Head.

Page 96

35

Committee Meeting – Thursday 22 November 2018
Who / What
•
•

•

Patrick Mildren, Head Teacher, Canonbury
Primary School
Jamie Brownhill, Head Teacher, Central
Foundation Secondary School
Nigel Smith, Head Teacher, New River
College Pupil Referral Unit

Area of focus – The views of Head
Teachers
To discuss their approach to exclusions and their
views on processes and support.

Committee Meeting – Thursday 10 January 2019
Who / What
•

Concluding Discussion

Area of focus – Any outstanding matters
For the committee to discuss their thoughts and
conclusions on the evidence received, prior to
developing recommendations.

Committee Meeting – Monday 4 March 2019
Who / What
•

Draft Recommendations

Area of focus – Recommendations
To agree a set of draft recommendations that
will form the basis of the committee’s report.

Scrutiny Visit – 5 April 2019
Who / What
•

Follow up focus group with parents of
excluded pupils

Area of focus – The views of parents
To discuss the progress of the review with
parents.

Committee Meeting – Thursday 30 April 2019
Who / What
•

Final Report

Area of focus – Recommendations
To agree the final report, summarising all of the
evidence received, and explaining the reasons
for the recommendations. The report will then
be submitted to the Executive.

Page 97

36

This page is intentionally left blank

